

Limit distributions for polynomials with independent and identically distributed entries

Ronan Herry, Dominique Malicet, Guillaume Poly

▶ To cite this version:

Ronan Herry, Dominique Malicet, Guillaume Poly. Limit distributions for polynomials with independent and identically distributed entries. 2024. hal-04852301

HAL Id: hal-04852301 https://hal.science/hal-04852301v1

Preprint submitted on 20 Dec 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

LIMIT DISTRIBUTIONS FOR POLYNOMIALS WITH INDEPENDENT AND IDENTICALLY DISTRIBUTED ENTRIES

RONAN HERRY, DOMINIQUE MALICET, AND GUILLAUME POLY

ABSTRACT. We characterize the limiting distributions of random variables of the form $P_n((X_i)_{i\geq 1})$, where: (i) $(P_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is a sequence of multivariate polynomials, each potentially involving countably many variables; (ii) there exists a constant $D \ge 1$ such that for all $n \ge 1$, the degree of P_n is bounded above by D; (iii) $(X_i)_{i\geq 1}$ is a sequence of independent and identically distributed random variables, each with zero mean, unit variance, and finite moments of all orders. More specifically, we prove that the limiting distributions of these random variables can always be represented as the law of $P_{\infty}((X_i, G_i)_{i\geq 1})$, where P_{∞} is a polynomial of degree at most D (potentially involving countably many variables), and $(G_i)_{i\geq 1}$ is a sequence of independent standard Gaussian random variables, which is independent of $(X_i)_{i\geq 1}$.

The characterization of all possible limiting laws of polynomials in independent and identically distributed variables is a long-standing problem, that we trace back at least to Kolmogorov's influential school in Probability in the 1960s. The seminal work [Sev62] is the first to solve this problem for D = 2 and when the (X_i) are Gaussian. There, a diagonalization argument serves as the main analytical tool. In contrast, the case of non-Gaussian inputs has been solved only recently: [BDMM24; BMM21] propose a solution for non-Gaussian quadratic polynomials, $\sum_{i,j \le N_n} \alpha_n(i, j)X_iX_j$, where the common law of the (X_i) is generic but the coefficients $(\alpha_n(i, j))_{i,j \le N_n}$ form an adjacency matrix. This extra assumption enables combinatorial arguments grounded in graph-theoretic techniques.

We solve this problem in full generality, addressing both Gaussian and non-Gaussian inputs, and with no extra assumption on the coefficients of the polynomials. In the Gaussian case, our proof builds upon several original tools of independent interest, including a new criterion for central convergence based on the concept of *maximal directional influence*. Beyond asymptotic normality, this novel notion also enables us to derive quantitative bounds on the degree of the polynomial representing the limiting law. We further develop techniques regarding asymptotic independence and dimensional reduction. To conclude for polynomials with non-Gaussian inputs, we combine our findings in the Gaussian case with invariance principles from [MOO10].

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
1.1. Main results	2
1.2. Motivation	3
1.3. Related works	4
1.4. Outline of the proof in the Gaussian case	5
2. Preliminaries	10
3. Stability of Wiener chaoses	11
3.1. Reminders on the Wiener space	11
3.2. Directional influences: a new criterion for asymptotic normality on Wiener chaoses	13
3.3. Decomposition of variables in the direction of strongest directional influence	18
3.4. Main result through an induction procedure	23
4. From stability of Wiener chaoses to stability of arbitrary polynomial chaoses	25
4.1. Reduction to multilinear polynomials	25
4.2. Proof by induction	25
4.3. Initialisation	26
4.4. Induction step	28
References	30

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. **Main results.** We establish a complete characterization of the closure, for the topology of convergence in law, of polynomials in independent random variables that are centered, have unit variance, and possess finite moments of all orders.

1.1.1. *Stability in law of polynomials chaoses.* We present below our main result, restricted to the univariate setting.

Theorem 1.1 (Stability of polynomial chaoses). Let $d \ge 1$, and let (P_n) be a sequence of multivariate real polynomials of degree at most $d \in \mathbb{N}$. Consider $\vec{X} = (X_i)_{i\ge 1}$, a sequence of independent and identically distributed random variables satisfying $\mathbf{E}[X_1] = 0$, $\mathbf{E}[X_1^2] = 1$, and $\mathbf{E}[|X_1|^p] < \infty$ for all $p \in \mathbb{N}$. Assume that $P_n(\vec{X})$ converges in law to a limit μ . Then, there exist:

G
 [¬] = (G_i)_{i≥1}, a sequence of independent standard Gaussian random variables, also independent of X
 [¬];
 P_∞, a multivariate polynomial of degree at most d, possibly involving countably many variables,

• P_{∞} , a multivariate polynomial of degree at most d, possibly involving countably many variables, such that:

$$\mathbf{law}\Big[P_{\infty}(\vec{X},\vec{G})\Big] = \mu.$$

As a special case, we investigate polynomials in Gaussian variables, that is $\mathbf{law}[X_1] = \gamma$. In this setting, we derive the following result, which extends a prior result known only for $d \le 2$ (see [Sev62]).

Theorem 1.2 (Stability of Wiener chaoses). Let $\vec{G} = (G_i)$ be a sequence of independent standard Gaussian random variables. The set

$$\{P(G) : P \text{ is a polynomial of degree at most } d\}$$

is closed for the topology of convergence in distribution.

In Theorem 4.1, we actually derive a stronger result than Theorem 1.1 in two ways:

- (i) we obtain a multivariate version of the theorem, that is we can consider polynomial random vectors $(P_i(\vec{X}))_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$ where each P_i is a polynomial of degree at most d;
- (ii) the X_i 's are not necessarily identically distributed, we only need to assume that they have finite moments and that $\{\mathbf{law}[X_i] : i \in \mathbb{N}\}$ is finite.

Similarly, in Theorem 3.1, we state the multivariate counterpart of Theorem 1.2.

1.1.2. Directional influences. To prove these two results, we introduce a novel quantity, the directional influence of order k. For simplicity, in this introduction, we restrict the presentation of this object to homogeneous polynomials without diagonal terms with Gaussian entries, and involving finitely many variables, which suffices to illustrate the essence of our results. Namely, for F, a homogeneous polynomial of degree d of the form

$$F = \sum_{i_1 < \cdots < i_d \le K} a_{i_1, \dots, i_d} G_{i_1} \cdots G_{i_d}$$

writing ∂_{G_i} for the partial derivate with respect to G_i , we define the semi-norms:

$$\tilde{\rho}_k(F) \coloneqq \sup \left\{ \left\| \sum_{i \ge 1} \partial_{G_i} F \, \partial_{G_i} X \right\|_{L^2} \, \colon \, X = \sum_{i_1 < \dots < i_d \le K} b_{i_1,\dots,i_d} G_{i_1} \cdots G_{i_d}, \|X\|_{L^2} \le 1 \right\}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Using this new framework, we establish a necessary and sufficient criterion for central convergence, which plays a pivotal role in our analysis.

Theorem 1.3 (Asymptotic normality from directional influences). Let $d \ge 1$ and consider a sequence

$$F_n \coloneqq \sum_{i_1 < \dots < i_d} a_n(i_1, \dots, i_d) G_{i_1} \cdots G_{i_d}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}$$

Then, the following are equivalent:

(i) (F_n) is asymptotically normal.

(ii) For some
$$k \in \left\{ \left\lfloor \frac{d}{2} \right\rfloor, \dots, d-1 \right\}$$
, we have

$$\tilde{\rho}_k(F_n) \to 0.$$

See Theorem 3.9 for a precise statement. With respect to the problem of characterizing all the distributional limits, this criterion enables, starting from a non asymptotically Gaussian polynomials, to factor out polynomials of smaller degrees, allowing for an inductive argument. Numerous alternative criteria for central convergence exist, most notably:

- (i) the celebrated Fourth-Moment Theorem of Nualart & Peccati [NP05];
- (ii) a criterion based Malliavin calculus by Nualart & Ortiz-Latorre [NO08];
- (iii) the Second Order Poincaré inequalities developed by Chatterjee [Cha09], and Nourdin, Peccati & Reinert [NPR09].

All the results above give necessary and sufficient conditions for asymptotic normality of homogeneous polynomials without diagonal terms. Arguably, our criterion is a new contribution in the vast literature of central limit criteria for Gaussian polynomials. However, directional influences offer new insights in two directions.

- (i) For Gaussian limits, we obtain the criterion from Theorem 1.3. This plays a crucial role in our proof, we do not know how to derive from the classical criteria.
- (ii) Beyond Gaussian limits, the semi-norms $\tilde{\rho}_k$ encode precise information about the distributional convergence of a sequence of polynomials $(F_n)_{n\geq 1}$, as demonstrated by the following result.

Theorem 1.4. With (F_n) as above, let $s \in \{1, ..., d-1\}$ and suppose $\tilde{\rho}_s(F_n) \to 0$, where

$$F_n \coloneqq \sum_{i_1 < \cdots < i_d} a_n(i_1, \dots, i_d) G_{i_1} \cdots G_{i_d}, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Further, assume $(F_n)_{n\geq 1}$ converges in distribution to μ . Then there exists a multivariate polynomial Q such that:

$$\operatorname{law}\left[Q(\vec{G})\right] = \mu, \quad and \quad \deg(Q) \leq \left\lfloor \frac{d}{s+1} \right\rfloor.$$

Remark 1.5. For *s* as in Theorem 1.3, we have $\left\lfloor \frac{d}{s+1} \right\rfloor \le 1$, and thus $Q(\vec{G})$ is Gaussian. Thus, Theorem 1.4 contains Theorem 1.3.

1.2. **Motivation.** Early fundamental results by the founding figures of the theory of probability, such as Chebyshev [Che91], Lindeberg [Lin22], Kolmogorov [Kol28], Lévy [Lév35], and Feller [Fel35] give a complete characterization of the limits in law of the sum of *n* independent random variables, as $n \to \infty$. We refer to the monographs [Lév54; GK54] for thorough introductions to the subject and more references.

Polynomials evaluated in random variables are central in several branches of probability theory: they allow to model complex stochastic behaviour, and decomposing a random field on a polynomial basis is a common strategy to study a probabilistic model. Such decomposition is known under various names: Walsh decomposition for boolean functions [Wal23], Wiener's *polynomial chaos* [Wie38], and its discrete counterpart [WW43], Itô's *multiple integrals decomposition* for Gaussian fields [Itô51] and for Poisson fields [Itô56], or yet Hoeffding's *ANOVA decomposition* [Hoe48]. To illustrate the importance of this type of decomposition, here is a short non-exhaustive compilation of works, pertaining to different areas of mathematics, fruitfully exploiting polynomials with random entries. For conciseness, we restrict to papers from less than ten years ago (that is after 2015): [MPRW16; BDM17; DS18; KKO18; CSZ20; EI20; ALM21; AADL21; JNP21; CSZ23; APS24; Hai24; GQ24]. We also mention that polynomial decomposition plays an important roles in computational mathematics, see for instance the influential papers [XK02; BS11].

In view of the importance of polynomials with random inputs, following the resolution of the linear case, subsequent works have intensively studied probabilistic properties of such polynomials. We refer to the two excellent surveys by Bogachev, and the references therein, for more details on polynomials evaluated in generic random variables [Bog16], and in independent Gaussian variables [Bog22].

The primary motivation of this work is to address the long-standing problem of characterizing the limiting distributions of polynomials, at least when the inputs admit finite moments. As with any characterization result, this advances the field not only by providing precise insights on the behavior of

random polynomials, but also by developing original tools to tame their complexity. In particular, our novel analysis based on the directional influences allows us to break down a polynomials in pieces of lower degree. Each of these smaller pieces can be further dissected until we obtain a decomposition

lower degree. Each of these smaller pieces can be further dissected until we obtain a decomposition for which we have an explicit control on each of the terms. We believe that such a procedure could turn useful in other problems related to polynomials in random variables, as it enables an efficient dimension reduction.

1.3. Related works.

1.3.1. *Characterization of the limits.* The problem we solve in this paper is explicitly formulated by Kolmogorov [Kol62] during a seminar, at least in the case of Gaussian inputs and degree 2, but could have appeared earlier. Quickly thereafter [Sev62] presents a solution for degree 2 Gaussian polynomials, that is the case d = 2 of our Theorem 1.2. This solution later reappears in [Arc99]. Despite being mentioned in different sources [Jan08, p. 85], [Bog16, Problem 4, p. 740], [Bog22, Question 3, p. 562], [BDMM24, Conclusion], before the present work, this question has only received very partial answers.

• [AB09, Cor. 2] provides a form of almost sure stability for Gaussian polynomials of a certain type.

• Relying on a diagonalisation argument, [BKNP15, Thm. 1.2] proves a version of Theorem 1.2 for d = 2 and for multivariate vectors.

• [BMM21; BDMM24] gives a characterisation of the limits of generic degree 2 polynomials under the additional constraints that the coefficients of the polynomials are in {0, 1}, allowing for graph-theoretic argument.

Apart from these works, we are not aware of any prior conclusive results addressing the stability of the laws of polynomials with random inputs.

Aside from the aforementioned characterisation of the limits, polynomials in random variables have been intensively studied in many directions [Bog22; Bog16]. In this section, we highlight two particular directions of research that are indirectly connected to the question of the stability of distributions of polynomials.

1.3.2. *Central limit theorems*. An important line of research focuses on generalizing the central limit theorem to non-linear functionals, particularly polynomial ones. In this context, the generalization typically involves identifying sufficient — and sometimes necessary — conditions to guarantee asymptotic normality, along with quantifying the rate of convergence in appropriate probabilistic distances. Criteria ensuring central convergence serve as the backbone of asymptotic results for polynomials in independent and identically distributed random variables and play a pivotal role in our approach. A crucial ingredient of our proof is the recursive decomposition of a polynomial into lower-degree ones that exhibit asymptotic Gaussian behavior.

Let us quote, in a very non-exhaustive way, some seminal contributions regarding non-linear central limit theorems. The interested reader can also consult the references therein.

• In his seminal works, De Jong gives sufficient conditions for central limit theorems for quadratic forms [dJon87] and for multilinear polynomials [dJon90].

• Nualart & Peccati [NP05], and Peccati & Tudor [PT05], characterize central limit theorems for homogeneous Gaussian polynomials, also known as *Wiener chaoses*, in term of the convergence of the fourth moment. Still, in the Gaussian setting, Nualart & Ortiz-Latorre [NO08] express condition for asymptotic normality in terms of operators from Malliavin calculus. Later on, Nourdin & Peccati [NP09] use similar ideas from Malliavin calculus, and combine them with Stein's method, to quantity normal convergence in Kolmogorov distance and total variation distance. See [NP12; APY21] for further developments in this line of research.

• Chatterjee [Cha08] builds upon the celebrated Stein's method to obtain a new criterion for asymptotic normality in terms of a variance bound. In the same spirit, Chatterjee [Cha09], and Nourdin, Peccati & Reinert [NPR09] provide criteria for asymptotic convergence of non-linear functionals of a Gaussian fields, that can actually be used beyond the polynomial setting.

• Döbler & Peccati [DP18] extends the fourth-moment theorem to case of polynomials with Poisson entries, also known as the Poisson–Wiener chaoses. We stress that our Theorem 1.1 does not apply in the full generality of Poisson chaoses. Contrarily to the Gaussian case, a Poisson distribution of mean λ cannot be expressed as a polynomial transform of Poisson distribution with mean 1. Thus, even the

Poisson chaos of degree one, cannot realised as linear form in a independent and identically distributed sequence. It is a question of high interest to determine the closure in law of Poisson chaoses.

1.3.3. Invariance principles. A second popular line of research concerns the so called invariance princi*ples.* Informally speaking, invariance principles compare the law of a polynomial $P(\vec{X})$, where $\vec{X} = (X_i)$ is a sequence of independent random variables with a common law that is rather generic, to that of $P(\vec{G})$ where \vec{G} is a sequence of independent standard Gaussian. Such invariance principles allow to generalize results and tools from the Gaussian framework to a more singular one. In particular, they play a prominent role in our proof of the stability theorem for polynomials with generic inputs. As above, we present a short and non-exhaustive selection of emblematic results in the field.

• Rotar' gives sufficient conditions for invariance principles for quadratic forms in [Rot73], and for multilinear polynomials in [Rot79]. Later, Götze & Tikhomirov [GT99] quantify Rotar's invariance principle.

• Chatterjee [Cha05; Cha06] establishes a new invariance principle beyond the polynomial setting, encompassing smooth functionals.

• Mossel, O'Donnell & Oleszkiewicz [MOO10] proves an invariance principle for polynomials, with an explicit quantification in the degree and the so-called *influence*. This principle allows for the resolution of two important conjectures related to boolean functions theory. Nourdin, Peccati & Reinert [NPR10] builds upon the aforementioned invariance principle, and derive a central limit theorems for a polynomials with general random independent entries from the particular case of Gaussian entries.

1.4. Outline of the proof in the Gaussian case.

1.4.1. A new criterion for asymptotic normality. As previously mentioned, our proof of Theorem 1.2 relies on the following principle, which characterizes the asymptotic normality of Gaussian polynomials. See Theorem 1.3 and Theorem 3.9 for more precise statements.

Principle 1. Let \vec{G} be an infinite vector of independent standard Gaussian variables, and let (P_n) be a sequence of multilinear polynomials of degree $d \ge 2$ without diagonal terms (that is, with no repeated indices). Define $F_n := P_n(\vec{G})$, which is assumed to be centered with unit variance. Then, the following statements are heuristically equivalent:

- (i) $(F_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is asymptotically Gaussian.
- (i) $(F_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is asymptotically independent of all polynomials in \vec{G} of degree at most d-1. (iii) $(F_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is asymptotically independent of all polynomials in \vec{G} of degree at most $\left|\frac{d}{2}\right|$.

We quantify the asymptotic independence of (F_n) with a sequence of polynomials (X_n) in terms of

$$\Gamma(F_n, X_n) \coloneqq \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \partial_{G_i} F_n \partial_{G_i} X_n.$$

The seminorm $\tilde{\rho}_k$ rewrites in terms of Γ , and in Proposition 3.14, we explicitly connect the vanishing of the seminorm with some asymptotic independence property.

For convenience, in the sequel, we present a slightly modified version of this semi-norm, $\rho_k(F)$, where the supremum is taken over the unit ball of \mathcal{W}_d , the Wiener chaos of order d, that is a distinguished subset of degree d polynomials. Since $\tilde{\rho}_k$ and ρ_k are bi-comparable, we do not delve into these refinements, which require defining Wiener chaoses.

For $d \in \{2, 3\}, \lfloor d/2 \rfloor = 1$, and the criterion for asymptotic normality takes a simpler form:

$$F_n \to \mathcal{N}(0,1) \Leftrightarrow \tilde{\rho}_1(F_n) \to 0 \Leftrightarrow \sup_{\vec{a} \in l^2(\mathbb{N}), \|\vec{a}\|_2 = 1} \left\| \sum_i a_i \partial_{G_i} F_n \right\|_2 \to 0.$$

To illustrate our proof, we restrict ourselves to the cases $d \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, which are sufficiently rich to highlight the mechanisms of the proof and are of independent interest.

1.4.2. Schematic proof: factoring out influential directions. Our approach proceeds by induction and relies on Principle 1 in its contrapositive form. Assume that $d \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ and that F_n is not asymptotically Gaussian. Then, there exists $\vec{a}_n \in l^2(\mathbb{N})$ and $\delta > 0$ such that

$$\left\|\sum_{i}a_{n,i}\partial_{G_{i}}F_{n}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})}\geq\delta,$$

for sufficiently large *n*. Setting $H_n := \sum_{i \ge 1} a_n(i)G_i \sim \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$, this implies that F_n depends macroscopically on H_n .

By performing an orthonormal change of basis such that $G_1 \to H_n$, which preserves the distribution of \vec{G} , one can write

$$F_n = \sum_{k=1}^d A_{k,n}(G_2, \dots) H_k(G_1) + A_{0,n},$$

where the coefficients $(A_{k,n})_{0 \le k \le d}$ are polynomials in $(G_i)_{i \ge 2}$, hence independent of G_1 . The coefficients $(A_{k,n})_{n\ge 1}$ have degree strictly less than *d* and can be handled inductively, while $A_{0,n}$ remains of degree *d*.

Repeating this process for $A_{0,n}$, and after a sufficient number of iterations, the remainders become asymptotically Gaussian, as per the aforementioned principle. Specifically, for some appropriately chosen $r_n \to \infty$, we write:

$$F_n = \underbrace{\left(F_{n,1} + \dots + F_{n,r_n}\right)}_{\text{Induction Step}} + \underbrace{R_{n,r_n}}_{\text{Gaussian Remainder}}$$

where the following points are noteworthy:

- (i) The term $F_{n,1} + \cdots + F_{n,r_n}$ involves countably many polynomials of degree strictly less than *d*, requiring the induction to be carried out in an infinite-dimensional setting.
- (ii) It is necessary to exchange the limits in *r* and *n* for the series $F_{n,1} + \cdots + F_{n,r}$. By construction, $\mathbb{E}(F_{n,i}F_{n,j}) = 0$ for $i \neq j$, allowing for L^2 -control of the series.
- (iii) For $d \ge 4$, the criterion involving $\tilde{\rho}_1$ is insufficient. However, the same strategy applies, with decompositions of $(F_n)_{n\ge 1}$ taking the form

$$F_n = \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor d/q \rfloor} A_{k,n} H_k(X_n),$$

where (X_n) is a suitable polynomial of degree q < d that is asymptotically normal, and $(A_{k,n})_{k\geq 0}$ are polynomials asymptotically independent of $(X_n)_{n\geq 1}$. Justifying such decompositions and asymptotic independence is non-trivial; see Section 3 for details.

1.4.3. The statement for low degree polynomials. We give a *ad hoc* definition of Wiener chaoses. We give more remainders on Wiener chaoses in Section 3.1. We fix $\vec{G} = (G_i : i \in \mathbb{N})$ a sequence of independent standard Gaussian variables, and we write H_k for the Hermite polynomial of degree k. Here by vect A, we mean the closure in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$ of the linear space generated by A and we set

(1.1)
$$\mathcal{W}_p \coloneqq \operatorname{vect}\left\{\prod_{i\in\mathbb{N}} H_{k_i}(G_i) : \sum_i k_i = p\right\}.$$

In particular, $W_0 = \mathbb{R}$, and W_1 contains only Gaussian variables, and each W_p in closed in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$. We also recall that

(1.2)
$$\mathcal{W}_{\leq p} \coloneqq \bigoplus_{p=0}^{d} \mathcal{W}_{p} = \left\{ P(\vec{G}) : \deg P \leq d \right\}.$$

Our induction is formulated as follows.

Definition 1.6. For $d \in \mathbb{N}^*$, we say that a sequence (\vec{F}_n) of random infinite vectors is *d*-admissible provided that:

(1.3)
$$\exists K \in \mathbb{N}^*, \forall i \in \mathbb{N}, \exists p_i \in \{0, \dots, K\}, \forall n \in \mathbb{N}, \left[F_{n,i} \in \mathcal{W}_{p_i}, \text{ and } \mathbf{E}\left[F_{n,i}^2\right] = 1\right];$$

(1.4)
$$\forall i \in \mathbb{N}, \left[p_i \le d, \text{ or } F_{n,i} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \mathcal{N}(0,1) \right]$$

Let us establish the following result, which in view of (1.2) implies Theorem 1.2 for $d \in \{1, 2, 3\}$.

Theorem 1.7. Let (\vec{F}_n) be a d-admissible vector with $d \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, that converges in law to some \vec{F}_{∞} . Then, there exists a sequence $(Y_i) \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq d}^{\mathbb{N}}$ such that

$$\mathbf{law}\,\vec{F}_{\infty} = \mathbf{law}\,\vec{Y}.$$

1.4.4. *Initialisation: proof of the case* d = 1. Let us consider a 1-admissible sequence (\vec{F}_n) converging in law to some \vec{F}_{∞} . We can assume that \vec{F}_n has no deterministic component, that is $p_i > 0$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Since we work with Gaussian polynomials, convergence in law implies convergence of moments, see Theorem 2.1, we have that

$$\mathbf{E}[F_{n,i}F_{n,j}] \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} c_{ij}.$$

The first step consists of exhibiting $\vec{N} = (N_1, N_2, \cdots)$ a sequence in \mathcal{W}_1 such that $\mathbf{E}(N_i N_j) = c_{i,j}$. Such a sequence can be constructed inductively. Assume that we have built (N_1, \cdots, N_p) whose covariance matrix is $C_p := (c_{i,j})_{1 \le i,j \le p}$. We seek for $N_{p+1} = \sum_{i=1}^p \alpha_i N_i + \alpha_{p+1} G$ where G is independent of (N_1, \cdots, N_p) , whenever C_p is invertible. If C_p is not invertible, we can build N_{p+1} as a linear combination of G and $(N_{i_1}, \cdots, N_{i_q})$ which is of full rank among (N_1, \cdots, N_p) . We deal only with case $\det(C_p) \neq 0$ below, for simplicity. The coefficients $(\alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_{p+1})$ must fulfil

(1)
$$\mathbf{E}(N_{p+1}N_i) = c_{i,p+1}, i \in [[1, p]]$$
 which gives $\begin{pmatrix} c_{1,1} & \cdots & c_{1,p} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ c_{p,1} & \cdots & c_{p,p} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \alpha_1 \\ \vdots \\ \alpha_p \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} c_{1,p+1} \\ \vdots \\ c_{p,p+1} \end{pmatrix}$. This gives

 $(\alpha_1, \cdots, \alpha_p)$ by inverting the system.

(2) Besides $\mathbf{E}(N_{p+1}^2) = c_{p+1,p+1} = \alpha_{p+1}^2 + \sum_{1 \le i,j \le p} \alpha_i \alpha_j c_{i,j}$ which provides α_{p+1} up to the sign, which does not matter. The resulting sequence $(N_i)_{i \ge 1}$ admits $C = (c_{i,j})_{1 \le i,j \le p}$ as covariance matrix.

A seminal result of Peccati & Tudor [PT05] asserts that convergence in distribution of vectors with Wiener chaotic entries to Gaussian vectors is equivalent to convergence of covariances matrices and component-wise convergence. Hence, we have that

$$\vec{F}_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \vec{N},$$

which concludes the proof for 1-admissible sequences.

1.4.5. *First induction step: from linear to quadratic.* We now show how to deduce the claim for 2admissible sequences. Thus, take (\vec{F}_n) a 2-admissible sequence. As highlighted above, our pivotal idea is that we can factor out Gaussian directions whenever a coordinate fails to be asymptotically Gaussian. To make this intuition precise, we use the formalism of *Malliavin derivative*, also known as *carré du champ*. For a precise definition, see Section 3.1, here we simply recall that Gaussian polynomials $F = P(\vec{G})$ and $\tilde{F} = \tilde{P}(\vec{G})$, we have

$$\Gamma(F,\tilde{F}) := \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \partial_{G_i} F \partial_{G_i} \tilde{F}.$$

Let us define directional influence of degree 1

$$\rho_1(F) := \sup\{\|\Gamma(F, X)\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} : X \in \mathcal{W}_1, \|X\| \le 1\}.$$

Since every $X \in \mathcal{W}$ is of the form $X = \sum a_i G_i$ for some $a \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})$, we have the simpler formula

$$\Gamma(F,X) = \sum_{i} a_i \partial_i P(\vec{G}).$$

See Section 3.2 for a more detailed discussion on ρ_1 and related objects. Write *I* for the set of indices *i* such that $F_{n,i}$ is not asymptotically Gaussian. Then we consider the following iterative construction. Set $R_{n,i,0} := F_{n,i}$. Then assuming that we have constructed $R_{n,i,k}$, define $R_{n,i,k+1}$ in the following way. Consider $(X_{n,i,k+1})_n \in \mathcal{W}_1^{\mathbb{N}}$ such that

$$\rho_1(R_{n,i,k}) \le \|\Gamma(R_{n,i,k}, X_{n,i,k+1})\| + \frac{1}{n}.$$

Then, completing $X_{n,i,k+1}$ in an orthonormal Gaussian basis of W_1 and expressing $R_{n,i,k}$ on this basis allows to write:

$$R_{n,i,k} = A_{n,i,k+1,2}H_2(X_{n,i,k+1}) + A_{n,i,k+1,1}H_1(X_{n,i,k+1}) + R_{n,i,k+1},$$

where $A_{n,i,k+1,2} \in \mathcal{W}_0$ (it is a constant), $A_{n,i,k+1,1} \in \mathcal{W}_1$ and is independent of $X_{n,i,k+1}$, and $R_{n,i,k+1} \in \mathcal{W}_2$ is independent of $X_{n,i,k+1}$. Necessarily, we also find that $X_{n,i,k+1}$ is independent of $X_{n,i,k}$. Indeed, write

$$X_{n,i,k+1} = \sqrt{t}X_{n,i,k} + \sqrt{1-t}N,$$

for some $N \in W_1$ independent of $X_{n,i,k}$, and we have

$$\Gamma(X_{n,i,k+1}, R_{n,i,k}) = \sqrt{1 - t\Gamma(N, R_{n,i,k})},$$

which contradicts the almost optimality of $X_{n,i,k+1}$ unless t = 0. Thus defining

$$F_{n,i,k} := A_{n,i,k,2} H_2(X_{n,i,k}) + A_{n,i,k,1} H_1(X_{n,i,k}),$$

we find that

(1.5)
$$F_{n,i} = \sum_{k=1}^{l} F_{n,i,k} + R_{n,i,l}.$$

Up to extracting a subsequence, we can assume that

$$\mathbf{E}\left[F_{n,i,k}^2\right] \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} v_{i,k},$$

for some non negative numbers $v_{i,k}$'s and any $i, k \ge 1$. Based on elementary analytical considerations, see Lemma 2.4, one can find a sequence $l_n \to \infty$, such that

(1.6)
$$\sum_{i \le l_n} \sum_{k \le l_n} \left| \mathbf{E} \left[F_{n,i,k}^2 \right] - v_{i,k} \right| \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0.$$

Lemma 1.8. The vector

$$(A_{n,i,k,2}, A_{n,i,k,1}, R_{n,i,l_n}, X_{n,i,k} : i \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^*),$$

is 1-admissible.

Proof. By construction $A_{n,i,k,2} \in W_0$, and $A_{n,i,k,1}, X_{n,i,k} \in W_1$. Let us check that R_{n,i,l_n} is asymptotically Gaussian. By definition

$$\rho_1(R_{n,i,l_n}) \le \|\Gamma(R_{n,i,l_n}, X_{n,i,l_n+1})\| + \frac{1}{n}.$$

As explained previously, decomposing $R_{n,i,l_n} = F_{n,i,l_n+1} + R_{n,i,l_n+1}$, we find that R_{n,i,l_n+1} , $A_{n,i,l_n+1,2}$ and $A_{n,i,l_n+1,2}$ are independent of X_{n,i,l_n+1} and that

$$\Gamma(R_{n,i,l_n}, X_{n,i,l_n+1}) = A_{n,i,l_n+1,2} \Gamma(H_2(X_{n,i,l_n+1}), X_{n,i,l_n+1}) + A_{n,i,l_n+1,1} \Gamma(X_{n,i,l_n+1}, X_{n,i,l_n+1}).$$

= 2A_{n,i,l_n+1,2} + A_{n,i,l_n+1,1}.

By independence and since $\mathbf{E}[XH_2(X)] = 0$ for *X* Gaussian, we have

$$\|F_{n,i,l_n+1}\|^2 = \|A_{n,i,l_n+1,2}H_2(X_{n,i,l_n+1}) + A_{n,i,l_n+1}X_{n,i,l_n+1}\|^2 = 4A_{n,i,l_n+1,2}^2 + \|A_{n,i,l_n+1,1}^2\|.$$

Combining with (1.6), we have shown that

$$\rho_1(R_{n,i,l_n+1}) \le 4 \|F_{n,i,l_n+1}\| + \frac{1}{n} \le c v_{i,l_n+1}^{1/2} + \frac{1}{n} + o(1)$$

Since all the terms in (1.5) are orthogonal, and F_n is normalized, we also find that

$$\sum_{k} v_{i,k} \le 1$$

Thus $v_{i,l_n+1} \to 0$. This shows that $\rho_1(R_{n,i,l_n+1}) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, and by Theorem 3.9 we conclude that it is asymptotically Gaussian.

By the induction hypothesis, we can thus, up to extraction, find $A_{\infty,i,k,2} \in W_0$, $A_{\infty,i,k,1} \in W_{\leq 1}$, $R_{\infty,i} \in W_{\leq 1}$, and $X_{\infty,i,k} \in W_{\leq 1}$ such that

$$\left(A_{n,i,k,2}, A_{n,i,k,1}, R_{n,i,l_n}, X_{n,i,k} : i \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^*\right) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \left(A_{\infty,i,k,2}, A_{\infty,i,k,1}, R_{\infty,i}, X_{\infty,i,k} : i \in \mathbb{N}, k \in \mathbb{N}^*\right)$$

By our inductive construction where $F_{n,i,k+1}$ is independent of $(X_{n,i,1}, ..., X_{n,i,k})$ and since $F_{n,i}$ is normalised, we find that

$$1 \ge \left\|\sum_{k} F_{n,i,k}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})}^{2} = \sum_{k} \mathbf{E}\left[F_{n,i,k}^{2}\right].$$

Since we work with Gaussian polynomials the orthogonality is preserved by the convergence in law, see Theorem 2.1, thus using that the norm is weakly lower semi-continuous, we get

$$1 \ge \left\| \sum_{k} F_{\infty,i,k} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})}^{2} = \sum_{k} \mathbf{E} \Big[F_{\infty,i,k}^{2} \Big].$$

This shows that the series $\sum_k F_{\infty,i,k}$ is convergent in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$ and is an element of $\mathcal{W}_{\leq 2}$ since this space is closed in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$. Thus let us define

$$F_{\infty,i} \coloneqq \sum_{k} F_{\infty,i,k} + R_{\infty,i} \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq 2}$$

We conclude the proof by showing the following convergence.

Lemma 1.9. The sequence (\vec{F}_n) converges in law to $\vec{F}_{\infty} := (F_{\infty,i})$.

Proof. Take a finite subset $J = \{j_1, \dots, j_p\} \subset \mathbb{N}$. Then, since $l_n \to \infty$, there exists N_0 such that for any $n \ge N_0$ we have $J \subset \{0, \dots, l_n\}$. In virtue of (1.6) we have in particular

$$\sum_{i=1}^{l_n} \sum_{k=1}^{l_n} \left| \mathbf{E} \left[F_{n,i,k}^2 \right] - v_{i,k} \right| \to 0.$$

Let $\varepsilon > 0$, one may find $K_{\varepsilon} \ge 1$ and $N_1 \ge N_0$ such that for any $n \ge N_1$ we have

$$\sum_{l=1}^{p} \sum_{k=K_{\varepsilon}+1}^{l_{n}} \mathbf{E}\left[F_{n,j_{l},k}^{2}\right] + \underbrace{\mathbf{E}\left[F_{\infty,j_{l},k}^{2}\right]}_{=v_{j_{l},k}} \leq \epsilon.$$

Thus, with \mathbf{W}_2 the 2-Wasserstein defined in (2.1), one recovers

$$\mathbf{W}_{2}\left(\left(F_{n,j}\right)_{j\in J},\left(F_{\infty,j}\right)_{j\in J}\right)$$

$$\leq \epsilon + \mathbf{W}_{2}\left(\left(\sum_{k=1}^{K_{\epsilon}}F_{n,j_{l},k} + R_{n,j_{l},l_{n}}\right)_{j\in J},\left(\sum_{k=1}^{K_{\epsilon}}F_{\infty,j_{l},k} + R_{\infty,j_{l}}\right)_{j\in J}\right)$$

Letting $n \to \infty$ and using induction hypothesis implies that

$$\mathbf{W}_{2}\left(\left(\sum_{k=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}}F_{n,j_{l},k}+R_{n,j_{l},l_{n}}\right)_{j\in J},\left(\sum_{k=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}}F_{\infty,j_{l},k}+R_{\infty,j_{l}}\right)_{j\in J}\right)\to 0.$$

Letting $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$ completes the proof.

1.4.6. The quadratic case implies the cubic case. The mechanism of proof is identical, we consider $(\vec{F_n})$ an admissible sequence of order 3. As before we focus on the set *I* of indices such that $(F_{n,i})$; $i \in I$ does not have a Gaussian limit. Then, we notice that, as in the case of degree 2, for Wiener chaoses of degree 3, the semi-norm ρ_1 controls the asymptotic Gaussianity. Thanks to this observation, we may perform similar decompositions: for $R_{n,i,k}$ being constructed, we set

$$R_{n,i,k} = A_{n,i,k+1,3}H_3(X_{n,i,k+1}) + A_{n,i,k+1,2}H_2(X_{n,i,k+1}) + A_{n,i,k+1,1}H_1(X_{n,i,k+1}) + R_{n,i,k+1}$$

There, $A_{n,i,k+1,3}$ is in \mathcal{W}_0 hence constant, $A_{n,i,k+1,2}$ is in \mathcal{W}_1 , and $A_{n,i,k+1,1}$ is in \mathcal{W}_2 . All are independent of $X_{n,i,k+1}$ which is in \mathcal{W}_1 and satisfies $\rho_1(R_{n,i,k}) \leq \|\Gamma[R_{n,i,k}, X_{n,i,k+1}]\| + \frac{1}{n}$. Setting $F_{n,i,k} := A_{n,i,k+1,3}H_3(X_{n,i,k+1}) + A_{n,i,k+1,2}H_2(X_{n,i,k+1}) + A_{n,i,k+1,1}H_1(X_{n,i,k+1})$ one can also write (with the exact same orthogonality and independence as in the quadratic case) for some $r_n \to \infty$

$$F_{n,i} = \sum_{k=1}^{r_n} F_{n,i,k} + R_{n,i,r_n}; \text{ where } R_{n,i,r_n} \text{ has Gaussian limit.}$$

Then, in order to conclude the proof, one is left to apply the induction hypothesis to the 2-admissible sequence $(A_{n,i,k,3}, A_{n,i,k,2}, A_{n,i,k,1}, X_{n,i,k}, R_{n,i,l_n} : i, k \ge 1)$ and to truncate the series tails $\sum_{k=K_{\varepsilon}+1}^{l_n} F_{n,i,k}$ in the exact same manner. This truncation procedure relies entirely on the fact that $(F_{n,i,k})_{k\ge 1}$ is an orthogonal sequence and this still holds for degree 3 Wiener chaoses. For degree strictly higher than 3, this orthogonality must be replaced by a weaker asymptotic orthogonality but we do not discuss this in the outline.

2. PRELIMINARIES

Since we are working with polynomials with random inputs, let us gather some facts about those. We start by recalling a direct consequence of hypercontractivity for polynomials [MOO10, § 3.2].

Theorem 2.1. Let (P_n) be a sequence of multivariate polynomials of at most $d \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $\vec{X} = (X_i)$ be a sequence of independent and identically distributed random variables, that are centered, with unit variance, and such that $\mathbf{E}[|X_1|^p] < \infty$ for all $p \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, if $(P_n(\vec{X}))$ converges in law to some Y_{∞} , then

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\left|P_{n}(\vec{X})\right|^{p}\right] \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \mathbf{E}\left[\left|Y_{\infty}\right|^{p}\right], \qquad p \in \mathbb{N}.$$

The following is also standard and follows, for instance, from [MOO10, Prop. 3.5].

Theorem 2.2. Let \vec{X} be as above. Then the set

 $\{P(\vec{X}) : P \text{ multivariate polynomial with degree at most } d\},\$

is closed in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$.

Let also recall the definition if the Wasserstein distance. Here $d \in \mathbb{N}^*$, and *X* and *Y* are random vectors in \mathbb{R}^d .

(2.1)
$$\mathbf{W}_{2}(X,Y) \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \left[\mathbf{E} \left[|\tilde{X} - \tilde{Y}|^{2} \right] \right]^{1/2} : \mathbf{law}[\tilde{X}] = \mathbf{law}[X], \, \mathbf{law}[\tilde{Y}] = \mathbf{law}[Y] \right\},$$

where $|\cdot|$ is the Euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^d . Following [Vil09, Thm. 6.9], the Wasserstein distance metrizes the topology of the convergence in law together with the convergence of the second moment. Combining with Theorem 2.1, we obtain the following.

Corollary 2.3. For all $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and $l \in \mathbb{N}^*$, on the set

$$\left\{(P_1(\vec{X}), ..., P_l(\vec{X})) : (P_i)_i \text{ multivariate polynomial with degree at most } d \right\}$$

the topology of the convergence in law is equivalent to that induced by the Wasserstein distance.

We finish this short section with an elementary lemma that we use several times.

Lemma 2.4. Consider a sequence of sequences $(u_{n,m})_{n,m\geq 1}$ such that for any $m \geq 1$, $u_{n,m} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0$. Then, there exists a real sequence (r_n) such that $r_n \to \infty$ and

$$\sum_{k=1}^{r_n} \left| u_{n,k} \right| \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0.$$

Proof. One may build an increasing sequence of integers $(N_i)_{i\geq 1}$ such that for any $n \geq N_i$ we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{l} |u_{n,k}| \le \frac{1}{i}.$$

Assume that we have (N_1, \dots, N_i) fulfilling the above conditions. There exists $N_{i+1} > N_i$ such that for any $k \in [\![1, i]\!]$ and $n \ge N_{i+1}$ we have $|u_{n,k}| \le \frac{1}{(i+1)^2}$. This entails that for any $n \ge N_{i+1}, \sum_{k=1}^{i+1} |u_{n,k}| \le \frac{1}{i+1}$. Then, for any $n \in [\![N_i, N_{i+1}]\!]$ one sets $r_n = i$. By construction, on this integers interval one has $\sum_{k=1}^{r_n} |u_{n,k}| \le \frac{1}{i}$ which concludes the proof.

3. STABILITY OF WIENER CHAOSES

We prove the following infinite-variate version of Theorem 1.2.

Theorem 3.1. Let $(P_{i,n})_{i,n}$ be polynomials of degree at most $d \in \mathbb{N}^*$; let \vec{G} be a standard Gaussian vector; and let \vec{F}_n be the infinite random vector given by

$$F_{i,n} \coloneqq P_{i,n}(\vec{G}), \quad i, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Assume that (\vec{F}_n) converges in law. Then, there exist polynomials $(Q_i)_i$ of degree at most d such that

$$\vec{F}_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} (Q_i(\vec{G}))_i.$$

3.1. **Reminders on the Wiener space.** In this section, we review the necessary materials, and only the necessary materials, regarding Wiener chaoses. Readers interested in a broader introduction or the most general definitions should read [BH91; Jan08; Nua06; NP12] for thorough introduction on the subjects.

3.1.1. The Wiener space. In this section, we work on the Wiener space which is the probability space

$$(\Omega, \mathfrak{W}, \mathbf{P}) \coloneqq (\mathbb{R}, \mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R}), \gamma)^{\otimes \infty}$$

where $\mathfrak{B}(\mathbb{R})$ is the Borel σ -algebra of \mathbb{R} , and $\gamma = \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$ is the standard Gaussian distribution. We equip it with the canonical coordinates process

$$G_i(\omega) \coloneqq \omega_i, \qquad \omega \in \Omega, \qquad i \in \mathbb{N}$$

in a way that the vector $\vec{G} = (G_i)$ is an infinite-vector of independent standard Gaussian variables. The Wiener space is invariant under orthogonal transformation, that is if $A \in \mathcal{O}(\ell^2)$ then $A\vec{G}$ has the same law as \vec{G} , and all the definitions below are also independent of the choice of the basis.

3.1.2. *Wiener chaoses.* Recall that we have defined W_d , the Wiener chaos of degree d in (1.1), as well as $W_{\leq d}$, the sum of chaos of degree at most d, which coincides with the space of Gaussian polynomials of degree at most d. From the definition of $W_{\leq d}$ in terms of polynomials, we see that

$$(3.1) \qquad \qquad \left[F \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq m}, X \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq d}\right] \Longrightarrow FX \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq (d+m)}.$$

For $F \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq d}$, we write $J_m F$ for its orthogonal projection onto \mathcal{W}_m . The Hermite polynomials form an orthonormal basis of $L^2(\gamma)$, from which we see that

$$\mathcal{W}_{\leq d} \subset \bigcap_{p < \infty} L^p(\mathbf{P}).$$

Actually on Wiener chaoses, all the L^p -norms are equivalent. Namely, following [HMP24, §3.1.3], for $d \in \mathbb{N}$, and $1 \le p \le q < 1$, there exists $c = c_{m,p,q}$ such that

$$||F||_q \le c||F||_p, \qquad F \in \mathcal{W}_{\le d}.$$

From this we obtain the following characterization.

Lemma 3.2. Let $K \subset W_{\leq d}$. The following are equivalent.

(i) *K* is bounded in some $L^p(\mathbf{P})$ ($p < \infty$).

(ii) K is relatively compact for the topology of the convergence in law and the convergence of all moments.

(iii) K is relatively compact for the topology of the Wasserstein distance.

Remark 3.3. Our Theorem 1.2 actually completes this result by stating that L^p balls in $\mathcal{W}_{\leq d}$ are actually compact for the topology of the Wasserstein distance.

3.1.3. Differential operators on the Wiener spaces. Let us define the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck generator

$$\mathsf{L}F \coloneqq \sum_{m=0}^d (-d)\mathsf{J}_m F, \qquad F \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq d}.$$

The operator L : $\mathcal{W}_{\leq d} \to \mathcal{W}_{\leq d}$ is continuous for the $L^2(\mathbf{P})$ -topology, and its eigenspaces are exactly \mathcal{W}_m . Related, to L, we define the *carré du champ* operator

$$\Gamma[F,X] \coloneqq \frac{1}{2}(\mathsf{L}(FX) - F\mathsf{L}X - X\mathsf{L}F), \qquad F,X \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq d}.$$

For Wiener chaoses, the carré du champ has a particularly simple form

(3.3)
$$\Gamma(F,X) = \frac{1}{2}(\mathsf{L} + p + q)(FX), \qquad F \in \mathcal{W}_p, X \in \mathcal{W}_q.$$

Similarly to (3.1), the carré du champ satisfies a multiplication property

(3.4)
$$\left[F \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq d}, G \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq m}\right] \Longrightarrow \Gamma[F, G] \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq (d+m-2)}$$

3.1.4. *Smooth random variables.* We define the space \mathbb{D}^{∞} as the closure of $\bigcup_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{W}_{\leq m}$ for the family of seminorms

$$F \mapsto \|\mathsf{L}^k F\|_{L^p(\mathbf{P})}, \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}, p \in (1, \infty).$$

It is known that \mathbb{D}^{∞} is an algebra stable under L, Γ , and composition with smooth functions with polynomial growth. This allows to state the important *chain rule formula* for Γ

(3.5)
$$\Gamma[\varphi(F),G] = \varphi'(F)\Gamma[F,G], \qquad F,G \in \mathbb{D}^{\infty}, \varphi \in \mathscr{C}_{pol}^{\infty}.$$

In particular, the carré du champ can be understood as the square ℓ^2 -norm of the infinite-dimensional gradient

(3.6)
$$\Gamma(\varphi(\vec{G}), \psi(\vec{G})) = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} \partial_i \varphi(\vec{G}) \partial_i \psi(\vec{G}), \qquad \varphi, \psi \in \mathscr{C}_{pol}^{\infty}$$

Finally, the following *integration by parts formula* plays a crucial role in our analysis

$$(3.7) -\mathbf{E}[F\mathsf{L}G] = \mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F,G]], F, G \in \mathscr{C}_{pol}^{\infty}.$$

An immediate consequence of the definition and the properties is the following result that we use repeatedly.

Lemma 3.4. Let $(F, G, H) \in \mathcal{W}_p \times \mathcal{W}_q \times \mathcal{W}_r$ with $(p, q, r) \in \mathbb{N}^3$. Then,

(3.8)
$$\mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F,G]H] = \frac{p+q-r}{2} \mathbf{E}[FGH]$$

Proof. By definition of Γ and the fact that *F* and *G* are chaotic, we find

$$\Gamma[F,G] = \frac{1}{2}(\mathsf{L} + p + q)(FG)$$

By (3.7),

$$\mathbf{E}[H \sqcup (FG)] = \mathbf{E}[FG \sqcup H] = -r \, \mathbf{E}[FGH].$$

We also need the following inequality.

Lemma 3.5. Let $X \in W_p$ and $Y \in W_q$. Then

$$\mathbf{E}\big[\Gamma(X,Y)^2\big] \le \frac{p+q}{4} \,\mathbf{E}[XY\Gamma(X,Y)].$$

Proof. Using (3.3) and (3.7), we find that

$$\mathbf{E}\big[\Gamma(X,Y)^2\big] = \frac{1}{4} \mathbf{E}[(XY)\mathsf{L}(\mathsf{L}+p+q)(XY)] + \frac{1}{4}(p+q) \mathbf{E}[(XY)\Gamma(X,Y)].$$

By definition, L is a non-positive operator, and, on the other, by (3.1), $XY \in W_{\leq (p+q)}$ on which L + p + q is a non-negative operator. Thus, the first term on the right-hand side is non-positive, and this yields the inequality.

3.2. **Directional influences: a new criterion for asymptotic normality on Wiener chaoses.** We introduce the *directional influences of degree k*, we new tool we develop to study convergence in law for a sequence of random variables in a Wiener chaos of fixed degree. We use them to formulate a new necessary and sufficient condition for such a sequence to have a Gaussian limit. This criterion, of independent interest, plays a prominent role in our approach.

Definition 3.6. Let $q \in \mathbb{N}^*$, the *directional influence of degree* q is defined as

(3.9)
$$\rho_q(F) = \sup\{\|\Gamma(F,X) : X \in \mathcal{W}_q, \mathbf{E}[X^2] = 1\|\}, \quad F \in \mathbb{D}^{\infty}.$$

Since we use this construction often let us also define.

Definition 3.7. Let (F_n) be a sequence in \mathbb{D}^{∞} and $q \in \mathbb{N}^*$. We say that a sequence (X_n) realises $\rho_q(F_n)$ provided $X_n \in \mathcal{W}_q$ with $\mathbf{E}[X_n^2] = 1$ is such that

$$\|\Gamma[F_n, X_n]\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \ge \rho_q(F_n) - \frac{1}{n}.$$

The following monotonicity property is immediate.

Lemma 3.8. For $1 \le q < p$ we have $\rho_q \le \rho_p$.

Proof. Take $q < p, F \in \mathbb{D}^{\infty}$ and (X_n) realizing $\rho_q(F)$. We first assume that F depends on finitely many Gaussian coordinates say G_1, \ldots, G_m for some $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$. In this case we can also take X_n only depending on G_1, \ldots, G_m . Can consider $(Y_n)_{n\geq 1}$ in \mathcal{W}_{p-q} , only depending on G_{m+1}, G_{m+2}, \ldots with $\mathbf{E}[Y_n^2] = 1$. In particular, Y_n is independent of $(F, X_n)_{n\geq 1}$ and $\Gamma(F, Y_n) = \Gamma(X_n, Y_n) = 0$. Thus,

(3.10)
$$\mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F, X_n Y_n]^2] = \mathbf{E}[Y_n^2 \Gamma[F, X_n]^2] = \|\Gamma[F, X_n]\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})}^2 \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \rho_q(F).$$

Using that the carré du champ vanished, we also find that

 $\mathsf{L}(X_nY_n) = X_n \mathsf{L}Y_n + Y_n \mathsf{L}X_n = -pX_nY_n.$

Thus, $X_n Y_n \in \mathcal{W}_p$, hence $\|\Gamma[F, X_n Y_n]\|_2 \le \rho_p(F)$ by definition. Combining with (3.10) and taking $n \to \infty$, we conclude. For the general case, we approximate *F* by a sequence (F_n) in \mathbb{D}^{∞} depending only on the m_n first coordinates.

3.2.1. *Revisiting asymptotic normality on Wiener chaoses.* The following result summarizes some known criterion for normal convergence, and establish the equivalence with our new criterion based on directional influence. To the best of our knowledge, it is new.

Theorem 3.9. Let (F_n) be a sequence in \mathcal{W}_p . The following are equivalent.

- (i) (F_n) is asymptotically Gaussian.
- (*ii*) **Var** $\Gamma[F_n, F_n]$ converges to 0.
- (iii) for $k \ge 2$, $H_k(F_n)$ is asymptotically an eigenvalue for \bot of order kp

$$(\mathsf{L} + kp)H_k(F_n) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{L^2(\mathbf{P})} 0.$$

(iv) for $k \ge 2$, $H_k(F_n)$ has asymptotically no components other than kp

$$\mathcal{J}_q H_k(F_n) \xrightarrow{L^2(\mathbf{P})}{n \to \infty} 0, \qquad q \neq kp.$$

(v) $\rho_{p-1}(F_n)$ vanishes as $n \to \infty$. (vi) $\rho_{\lfloor \frac{p}{2} \rfloor}(F_n)$ vanishes as $n \to \infty$. *Proof.* (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) follows from [NO08].

(ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii) is immediate once we observe that $(L + kp)H_k(F_n) = k(k-1)H_{k-2}(F_n)(\Gamma(F_n, F_n) - p)$, see [AMMP16, Eq. (4.6)].

(iii) \Leftrightarrow (iv) since (L + 2p) corresponds exactly to projecting on \mathcal{W}_{2p}^{\perp} , up to a multiplicative constant.

We can assume that p > 1, otherwise, on the one hand (F_n) is already Gaussian, and on the other hand $\mathcal{W}_{p-1} = \mathcal{W}_0 = \mathbb{R}$. Thus, the chain rule (3.5) implies that $\Gamma[F_n, X] = 0$ for every $X \in \mathcal{W}_0$, hence $\rho_{|\frac{p}{2}|}(F_n) = \rho_{p-1}(F_n) = 0$. Thus, we assume that $p \ge 2$.

(iii) and (iv) \Rightarrow (v). Consider $(F_n)_{n\geq 1} \in \mathcal{W}_p$ such that $F_n \to \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$ and let us prove that $\rho_{p-1}(F_n) \to 0$. Take (X_n) realising $\rho_{p-1}(F_n)$. Since $X_n \in \mathcal{W}_{p-1}$, by (3.1), we find $X_n^2 \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq (2p-2)}$. Given that $\mathcal{W}_{2p} \perp \mathcal{W}_{\leq (2p-2)}$, we derive, by (iv), that $\mathbf{E}[H_2(F_n)X_n^2] \to 0$. On the other hand by (iii) $\mathbf{E}[(L+2p)H_2(F_n)X_n^2] \to 0$. Using the chain rule (3.5), the integration by parts (3.7), we thus find

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}[F_n X_n \Gamma[F_n, X_n]] &= \frac{1}{4} \mathbf{E}[\Gamma[X_n^2, H_2(F_n)]] \\ &= -\frac{1}{4} \mathbf{E}[X_n^2 \sqcup H_2(F_n)] \\ &= -\frac{1}{4} \mathbf{E}[X_n^2 (\sqcup + 2p) H_2(F_n)] + \frac{p}{2} \mathbf{E}[X_n^2 H_2(F_n)] \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0. \end{split}$$

By Lemma 3.5, we conclude that

$$\Gamma(F_n, X_n) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{L^2(\mathbf{P})} 0,$$

and thus $\rho_{p-1}(F_n) \to 0$.

 $(v) \Rightarrow (vi)$. Direct consequence of the monotonicity Lemma 3.8.

(vi) \Rightarrow (ii). We want to establish that $\operatorname{Var}[\Gamma(F_n, F_n)] \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. By (3.4), it is sufficient to show that for all $(Z_n)_{n\geq 1}$ a bounded sequence in \mathcal{W}_k with $k \in \{1, \dots, 2p-2\}$. $\operatorname{E}[\Gamma[F_n, F_n]Z_n] \to 0$. Indeed, this yields that orthogonal projections of $\Gamma[F_n, F_n]$ on chaoses of order k tend to zero, hence the desired claim. For every $l \leq p \wedge k$, and every multi-index $(i_1, \dots, i_l) \in \mathbb{N}^l$ we have $\partial_{i_1, \dots, i_l}F_n \in \mathcal{W}_{p-l}$ and $\partial_{i_1, \dots, i_l}Z_n \in \mathcal{W}_{k-l}$. Provided that $(p-l) + (k-l) \neq p$, that is $k \neq 2l$, recalling (3.6), Lemma 3.4 entails that

$$\mathbf{E}[F_n\partial_{i_1,\dots,i_l}F_n\partial_{i_1,\dots,i_l}Z_n] = \frac{2}{k-2l}\mathbf{E}[F_n\Gamma[\partial_{i_1,\dots,i_l}F_n,\partial_{i_1,\dots,i_l}Z_n]]$$
$$= \frac{2}{k-2l}\sum_{i_{l+1}=1}^{\infty}\mathbf{E}[F_n\partial_{i_1,\dots,i_{l+1}}X_n\partial_{i_1,\dots,i_{l+1}}Z_n].$$

Applying *r*-times consecutively the previous procedure leads to

(3.11)

$$\mathbf{E}[F_n F_n Z_n] = \frac{2}{k} \mathbf{E}[F_n \Gamma[F_n, Z_n]]$$

$$= \frac{2}{k} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{E}[F_n \partial_i F_n \partial_i Z_n]$$

$$\vdots$$

$$= \frac{2^r}{k} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{E}[F_n \partial_i F_n \partial_i Z_n]$$

 $= \frac{2}{\prod_{l=0}^{r-1} (k-2l)} \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_r=1} \mathbf{E} [F_n \partial_{i_1,\dots,i_r} F_n \partial_{i_1,\dots,i_r} Z_n].$

We can apply this procedure as long as $k \neq 2l$ for every $l \in \{0, ..., r-1\}$. Let r_0 be maximal such that the above equality holds, in particular $p = (p - r_0) + (k - r_0)$, otherwise one could further decompose contradicting the maximality of r_0 . Then, either $p - r_0 \leq \frac{p}{2}$ or $k - r_0 \leq \frac{p}{2}$. Otherwise $p - r_0 > \frac{p}{2}$ and $k - r_0 > \frac{p}{2}$ which contradicts $p = (p - r_0) + (k - r_0)$.

(a) **Case** $p - r_0 \le \frac{p}{2}$. In this case, $p - r_0 \le \left\lfloor \frac{p}{2} \right\rfloor$, since we are working with integers. By Lemma 3.4, for a given multi-index (i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}) and given that $p + (p - r_0) = 2p - r_0 > k - r_0$ ($k \in \{1, \dots, 2p - 2\}$) we obtain

(3.12)
$$\mathbf{E}\Big[F_n\partial_{i_1,\cdots,i_{r_0}}F_n\partial_{i_1,\cdots,i_{r_0}}Z_n\Big] = \frac{2}{2p-k}\mathbf{E}\Big[\Gamma[F_n,\partial_{i_1,\cdots,i_{r_0}}F_n]\partial_{i_1,\cdots,i_{r_0}}Z_n\Big]$$

Let us write $m := \lfloor \frac{p}{2} \rfloor$. Besides, for any $X \in \mathcal{W}_{p-r_0}$ we have $\|\Gamma[F_n, X]\|_2 \le \|X\|_2 \rho_{p-r_0}(F_n) \le \|X\|_2 \rho_m(F_n)$ since $p - r_0 \le m$ and since we have Lemma 3.8. Hence, using Cauchy-Schwarz with $\Gamma[F_n, \partial_{i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}} F_n]$ and $\partial_{i_1,\dots,i_{r_0}} Z_n$ we have,

$$\left\|F_{n}\partial_{i_{1},\dots,i_{r_{0}}}F_{n}\partial_{i_{1},\dots,i_{r_{0}}}Z_{n}\right\|_{L^{1}(\mathbf{P})} \leq \frac{2\rho_{m}(F_{n})}{2p-k}\left\|\partial_{i_{1},\dots,i_{r_{0}}}F_{n}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})}\left\|\partial_{i_{1},\dots,i_{r_{0}}}Z_{n}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})}$$

Gathering these facts, we may write

(3.13)

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F_n, F_n] Z_n] \right| &= \frac{2p - k}{2} \left| \mathbf{E}[F_n^2 Z_n] \right| \qquad \text{(Lemma 3.4).} \\ &\leq \frac{2p - k}{2} \times \frac{2^{r_0}}{\prod_{l=0}^{r_0 - 1} \mathbf{E}[k-2l]} \sum_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0} = 1}^{\infty} \left| \mathbf{E}[F_n \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} F_n \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} Z_n] \right| \qquad (3.11) \\ &\leq \frac{2^{r_0}}{\prod_{l=0}^{r_0 - 1} (k-2l)} \sum_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0} = 1}^{\infty} \left\| \Gamma[F_n, \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} F_n] \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} Z_n \right\|_{L^1(\mathbf{P})} \qquad (3.12) \end{aligned}$$

Applying then the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality twice: first on the L^1 -norm then on the sum, we obtain

(3.14)
$$|\mathbf{E}[\Gamma(F_n, F_n)Z_n]| \leq \frac{2^{r_0}}{\prod_{l=0}^{r_0-1}(k-2l)} \rho_m(F_n) ||\mathbf{D}^{r_0}F_n||_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N}^{r_0})\otimes L^2(\mathbf{P})} ||\mathbf{D}^{r_0}Z_n||_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N}^{r_0})\otimes L^2(\mathbf{P})}$$

where we use the random sequences

$$\mathsf{D}^{r_0}X \coloneqq \left\{\partial_{i_1,\dots,i_{r_0}}X \ : \ (i_1,\dots,i_{r_0}) \in \mathbb{N}^{r_0}\right\}, \quad X \in \mathbb{D}^{\infty}$$

When *F* is a Wiener chaos of order λ , then: (a) by integration by parts (3.7), $\sum_{i=1}^{\infty} ||\partial_i F||_2^2 = \mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F, F]] = -\lambda \mathbf{E}[F^2];$ (b) for any multi-index $(i_1, \dots, i_r), \partial_{i_1, \dots, i_r} F_n$ is a Wiener chaos of order $\lambda - r$.

Combining these two facts two facts together gives

$$\|\mathsf{D}^{r_0}F_n\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N}^{r_0})\otimes L^2(\mathbf{P})}^2 = \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{r_0}=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{E}\Big[\Big(\partial_{i_1,\dots,i_{r_0}}F_n\Big)^2\Big] = p(p-1)\dots(p-r+1)\,\mathbf{E}\big[F_n^2\big] = \frac{p!}{(p-r_0)!}$$
$$\|\mathsf{D}^{r_0}Z_n\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N}^{r_0})\otimes L^2(\mathbf{P})}^2 = \sum_{i_1,\dots,i_{r_0}=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{E}\Big[\Big(\partial_{i_1,\dots,i_{r_0}}Z_n\Big)^2\Big] = \frac{p!}{(p-r_0)!}\,\mathbf{E}\big[Z_n^2\big].$$

Substituting in (3.14), we get, since (Z_n) is bounded,

$$\left|\mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F_n, F_n]Z_n]\right| \le \frac{2^{r_0}\rho_m(F_n)}{\prod_{l=0}^{r_0-1}(k-2l)} \frac{p!}{(p-r_0)!} \|Z_n\|_2 \to 0.$$

(b) Case $k - r_0 \le \frac{p}{2}$. Since $k \ge 1$, $p + (k - r_0) > p - r_0$ and one may write relying on Lemma 3.4 that

$$\mathbf{E}\Big[F_n\partial_{i_1,\cdots,i_{r_0}}F_n\partial_{i_1,\cdots,i_{r_0}}Z_n\Big] = \frac{2}{k}\mathbf{E}\Big[\Gamma[F_n,\partial_{i_1,\cdots,i_{r_0}}Z_n]\partial_{i_1,\cdots,i_{r_0}}F_n\Big]$$

The rest of the proof is identical up to a change in the constant $\frac{2}{2p-k}$ that is now replaced by $\frac{2}{k}$. The final bound is then given by

$$\left| \mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F_n, F_n] Z_n] \right| \le \frac{2^{r_0} (2p-k) \rho_m(F_n)}{k \prod_{l=0}^{r_0-1} (k-2l)} \frac{p!}{(p-r_0)!} \|Z_n\|_2 \to 0.$$

Remark 3.10. When p = 3, then $\left\lfloor \frac{p}{2} \right\rfloor = 1$ and, owing to the fact that every element of W_1 is of the form $\vec{a} \cdot \vec{G}$ for some $\vec{a} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{N})$, we get the following equivalence for Wiener chaoses of degree 3

$$F_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \mathcal{N}(0, 1) \Leftrightarrow \sup_{\|\vec{a}\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})} \leq 1} \left\| \sum a_i \partial_i F_n \right\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})}$$

For chaoses of higher degree, ρ_1 is not enough to measure asymptotic normality as illustrated by the following counterexample. Set $F_n := (n^{-1/2} \sum_{k=1}^n H_2(G_{2k})) \times (n^{-1/2} \sum_{k=1}^n H_2(G_{2k+1}))$, which, by the usual central limit theorem converges to the product of two independent Gaussian. For $X := \vec{a} \cdot \vec{G}$ with $\|\vec{a}\|_{\ell^2(\mathbb{N})} = 1$, we find

$$\Gamma[F_n, X] = \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{k=1}^n a_{2k} G_{2k}\right) \times \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{k=1}^n H_2(G_{2k+1})\right) + \left(\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{k=1}^n H_2(G_{2k})\right) \times \left(\frac{2}{\sqrt{n}} \sum_{k=1}^n a_{2k+1} G_{2k+1}\right)$$

Moreover,

$$\left\|\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}\sum_{k=1}^{n}a_{2k}G_{2k}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})}^{2}=\frac{1}{n}\sum_{k=1}^{n}a_{2k}^{2}\leq\frac{1}{n},$$

with a similar bound for the odd terms. This implies, computing the norm with the previous equality and using independence, that $\|\Gamma[F_n, X]\|_2 \leq \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{\sqrt{n}}$. Thus $\rho_1(F_n) \to 0$ but the limit is non Gaussian.

3.2.2. *Asymptotic independence and normal convergence.* We show how our new criterion provides new insights on asymptotic independence for Wiener chaoses that are asymptotically Gaussian. We start by establishing that the carré du champ of an asymptotically normal Wiener chaos is asymptotically an eigenfunction.

Lemma 3.11. Let $(F_n, X_n)_{n \ge 1}$ be a sequence in $\mathcal{W}_p \times \mathcal{W}_q$ with, $\mathbf{E}[F_n^2] = 1$ and $X_n \to \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$. Then,

(3.15)
$$\begin{cases} if q \le p, \qquad (\mathsf{L} + p - q)\Gamma[F_n, X_n] \xrightarrow{L^2(\mathbf{P})} 0. \\ if q > p, \qquad \Gamma(F_n, X_n) \xrightarrow{L^2(\mathbf{P})} 0. \end{cases}$$

Proof. The case p < q follows immediately from Theorem 3.9. Thus, take $p \ge q$. By (3.4), $\Gamma[F_n, X_n] \in W_{\le p+q-2}$. Since L + (p-q)I) corresponds to the orthogonal projection on W_{p-q}^{\perp} , it is sufficient to consider, by (3.4), $k \in \{0, ..., p+q-2\}$ such that $k \ne p-q$ and $(Z_n)_{n\ge 1}$ a bounded sequence in W_k , and to establish that $\mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F_n, X_n]Z_n] \rightarrow 0$. If q < p then q - p < 0 and k > q - p, while if p = q then by assumption $k \ne p - q = 0$ and k > q - p as well. Hence, applying Lemma 3.4 twice gives

$$\mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F_n, X_n]Z_n] = \frac{p+q-k}{2} \mathbf{E}[F_n X_n Z_n]$$
$$= \frac{p+q-k}{2} \times \frac{2}{p+k-q} \mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F_n, Z_n]X_n]$$
$$= \frac{p+q-k}{p+k-q} \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} [\partial_i F_n \partial_i Z_n X_n].$$

Iterating the previous procedure r_0 times with r_0 being the smallest integer such that we do not divide by 0 yields

$$\mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F_n, X_n]Z_n] = \frac{p+q-k}{2} \times \prod_{l=0}^{r_0-1} \frac{2}{p+k-q-2l} \sum_{i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{E}\Big[\partial_{i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}}F_n\partial_{i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}}Z_nX_n\Big].$$

Since r_0 is maximal, the previous expression cannot be further decomposed and one must have $p - r_0 + k - r_0 = q$. Hence, either $p - r_0 \le \frac{q}{2}$ either $k - r_0 \le \frac{q}{2}$ and, as in the previous proof, we consider both cases.

(a) **Case** $k - r_0 \leq \frac{q}{2}$. For a given multi-index (i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}) we have $\partial_{i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}} F_n \in \mathcal{W}_{p-r_0}$ and $\partial_{i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}} Z_n \in \mathcal{W}_{k-r_0}$. Besides $(k - r_0) + q \neq p - r_0$ since $k \neq p - q$ hence

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathbf{E} \Big[\partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} F_n \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} Z_n X_n \Big] \right| &= \frac{2}{q+k-p} \Big| \mathbf{E} \Big[\partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} F_n \Gamma[X_n, \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} Z_n] \Big] \\ &\leq \frac{2}{q+k-p} \Big\| \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} F_n \Big\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \Big\| \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} Z_n \Big\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \rho_{\left\lfloor \frac{q}{2} \right\rfloor}(X_n). \end{aligned}$$

Using Cauchy-Schwarz in the same way as to derive (3.14), we find

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{E}[\Gamma[F_{n},X_{n}]Z_{n}]\| &\leq \frac{p+q-k}{2} \prod_{l=0}^{r_{0}-1} \frac{2}{p+k-q-2l} \frac{2}{q+k-p} \times \rho_{\lfloor \frac{q}{2} \rfloor}(X_{n}) \Big\langle \|\mathbf{D}^{r_{0}}F_{n}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})}, \|\mathbf{D}^{r_{0}}Z_{n}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})} \Big\rangle_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}^{r_{0}})} \\ &\leq \rho_{\lfloor \frac{q}{2} \rfloor}(X_{n}) \frac{p+q-k}{q+k-p} \prod_{l=0}^{r_{0}-1} \frac{2}{p+k-q-2l} \times \|\mathbf{D}^{r_{0}}F_{n}\|_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}^{r_{0}}) \otimes L^{2}(\mathbf{P})} \|\mathbf{D}^{r_{0}}Z_{n}\|_{\ell^{2}(\mathbb{N}^{r_{0}}) \otimes L^{2}(\mathbf{P})} \\ &= \rho_{\lfloor \frac{q}{2} \rfloor}(X_{n}) \frac{p+q-k}{q+k-p} \prod_{l=0}^{r_{0}-1} \frac{2}{p+k-q-2l} \sqrt{\frac{p!}{(p-r_{0})!}} \sqrt{\frac{k!}{(k-r_{0})!}} \times \|F_{n}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})} \|Z_{n}\|_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})}. \end{split}$$

By assumption $X_n \to \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$, thus using Theorem 3.9, we get $\rho_{\lfloor \frac{q}{2} \rfloor}(X_n) \to 0$. Thus, the last line vanishes as $n \to \infty$, since both (F_n) and (Z_n) are bounded in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$.

(b) **Case** $p - r_0 \leq \frac{q}{2}$. For a given multi-index (i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}) we have $\partial_{i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}} F_n \in \mathcal{W}_{p-r_0}$ and $\partial_{i_1, \dots, i_{r_0}} Z_n \in \mathcal{W}_{k-r_0}$. Besides $(p - r_0) + q \neq k - r_0$ since $k \leq p + q - 2 hence$

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \mathbf{E} \Big[\partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} Z_n \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} F_n X_n \Big] \right| &= \frac{2}{p+q-k} \left| \mathbf{E} \Big[\partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} Z_n \Gamma[X_n, \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} F_n] \Big] \right| \\ &\leq \frac{2}{p+q-k} \| \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} Z_n \|_2 \| \partial_{i_1, \cdots, i_{r_0}} F_n \|_2 \rho_{\lfloor \frac{q}{2} \rfloor}(X_n). \end{aligned}$$

The rest of the proof is identical to the previous case with just a minor change on the final constants. \Box

Definition 3.12. For (X_n) a sequence in \mathcal{W}_q that is asymptotically normal, we define the *asymptotic independence algebra* as the set $\mathcal{A}(X_n)$ of all sequences (Y_n) in \mathbb{D}^{∞} such that

$$\Gamma(X_n, Y_n) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{L^2(\mathbf{P})} 0.$$

Lemma 3.13. For (X_n) as above, the set $\mathcal{A}(X_n)$ is an algebra stable by orthogonal projections on chaoses, L, Γ , and composition with smooth functions with polynomial growth.

Proof. The fact that $\mathcal{A}(X_n)$ is an algebra stable by composition with smooth functions follows immediately from the fact that Γ is bilinear and satisfies a chain rule (3.5). Let us show that it is stable by projections. That would imply stability by L since L is a multiplication operator on chaoses, and thus by Γ in view of the definition of Γ . Take $(Y_n) \in \mathcal{A}(X_n)$. In view of Lemma 3.11:

(i) $\Gamma(X_n, \mathsf{J}_r Y_n) \to 0$ for r < q.

(ii) $\Gamma(X_n, J_r Y_n)$ are asymptotically in chaoses of different degree, for $r \ge q$. Thus writing

$$\Gamma(X_n, Y_n) = \sum_{r \in \mathbb{N}} \Gamma(X_n, \mathsf{J}_r Y_n) \to 0,$$

and using the orthogonality of Wiener chaoses we conclude.

We give a novel characterization of asymptotic independence in terms of the carré du champ, that justifies the name of A.

Proposition 3.14. Let (X_n) be a sequence in W_q asymptotically normal. Then every $(Y_n) \in \mathcal{A}(X_n)$ is asymptotically independent of (X_n) , namely

$$\mathbf{E}[\varphi(X_n)\psi(Y_n)] - \mathbf{E}[\varphi(X_n)] \mathbf{E}[\psi(Y_n)] \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0, \qquad \varphi, \psi \in \mathscr{C}_b(\mathbb{R}).$$

Proof. Take $\psi \in \mathscr{C}_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and define

$$c_n(t) \coloneqq \mathbf{E}[\psi(Y_n) \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i} t X_n}] - \mathbf{E}[\psi(Y_n)] \mathrm{e}^{-t^2/2}, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

It suffices to show that $c_n(t) \to 0$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$. The function c_n is smooth and verifies $c_n(0) = 0$. Moreover, we find

$$\dot{c}_n(t) = \mathrm{i}t \mathbf{E} [X_n \psi(Y_n) \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}tX_n}] + t \mathrm{e}^{-t^2/2} \mathbf{E} [\psi(Y_n)].$$

By integration by parts (3.7) and the chain rule (3.5), we thus find

$$\dot{c}_n(t) = \frac{\mathrm{i}t}{q} \mathbf{E} \big[\Gamma(X_n, \psi(Y_n)) \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}tX_n} \big] - \frac{t^2}{q} \mathbf{E} \big[\Gamma(X_n, X_n) \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}tX_n} \psi(Y_n) \big] + t \mathrm{e}^{-t^2/2} \mathbf{E} [\psi(Y_n)].$$

Since $(Y_n) \in \mathcal{A}(X_n)$, we have that the first term vanishes. Moreover, by Theorem 3.9 (ii), we have that $\Gamma(X_n, X_n) \to q$. Thus

$$\dot{c}_n(t) = -tc_n(t) + o(1).$$

3.3. Decomposition of variables in the direction of strongest directional influence. In this section we gather several technical lemmas allowing us to factor directions out of a non-asymptotically normal chaos. Thus in all this section we fix $p \ge 2$ and we let $(F_n)_{n\ge 1}$ be a sequence in \mathcal{W}_p with $\mathbf{E}[F_n^2] = 1$ that is not asymptotically Gaussian. As eluded in the introduction, we want to factorize out of F_n macroscopic directions. We formalize this intuition by measuring the importance of a direction using the directional influence. This naturally leads to the following definition.

Definition 3.15. We define the degree of strongest directional influence

$$q(F_n) = q := \min\{k \in \mathbb{N}^* : \rho_k(F_n) \text{ does not converge to } 0\}.$$

We call any sequence (X_n) realising $\rho_q(F_n)$ a direction of strongest influence.

Remark 3.16. Since $F_n \nleftrightarrow \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$ then $\rho_{\lfloor \frac{p}{2} \rfloor}(F_n) \nleftrightarrow 0$ by Theorem 3.9 (vi) and $q \leq \lfloor \frac{p}{2} \rfloor$ is well defined as the minimum of a non empty set of positive integers. Up to extracting a subsequence, we always assume that $\rho_q(F_n)$ is lower bounded.

The following result ensures that directions of strongest influence are asymptotically Gaussian.

Lemma 3.17. For any direction of strongest influence (X_n) , we have

$$X_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \mathcal{N}(0, 1).$$

Proof. We prove the claim by induction on *p*.

(a) **Initialisation**. Let $p \coloneqq 2$ then, $\lfloor \frac{p}{2} \rfloor = 1$, and thus, q = 1. Hence, every (X_n) realising ρ_1 is an element of \mathcal{W}_1 with unit variance, that is $\mathbf{law}[X_n] = \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

(b) **Induction step**. Assume that p > 2, and that we have established the claim for all p' < p. Take (X_n) realising $\rho_q(F_n)$, and assume, by contradiction, that it is not asymptotically Gaussian. Since $q \le \lfloor \frac{p}{2} \rfloor < p$, we can apply the induction hypothesis, on (X_n) . Thus, up to extracting a subsequence, there exists $r \le \lfloor \frac{q}{2} \rfloor$ and a sequence (Y_n) living in \mathcal{W}_r such that

(3.16)
$$\left\|\Gamma[X_n, Y_n]\right\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \ge \rho_r(X_n) - \frac{1}{n} \ge \delta > 0,$$

(3.17)
$$Y_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \mathcal{N}(0, 1).$$

Consider A_n the orthogonal projection of X_n on the closed vector space $Y_n W_{q-r}$. Thus, we write $X_n = A_n Y_n + R_n$ with $A_n \in W_{q-r}$ and $R_n \perp Y_n W_{q-r}$. Using Lemma 3.11, $\|(L + q - r)[\Gamma[X_n, Y_n]]\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \to 0$. In particular, $Y_n \Gamma(X_n, Y_n)$ is asymptotically in $Y_n W_{q-r}$. Thus, using properties of orthogonal projections, we find:

$$\mathbf{E}[X_nY_n\Gamma[X_n,Y_n]] - \mathbf{E}[A_nY_n\Gamma[X_n,Y_n]] \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0$$

On the other hand, combining Lemma 3.5 and (3.16),

$$\mathbf{E}[X_n Y_n \Gamma[X_n, Y_n]] \ge \frac{p+r}{4} \mathbf{E}[\Gamma[X_n, Y_n]^2] \ge \frac{p+r}{4} \delta^2.$$

Hence, the two previous equations with the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality gives

$$\frac{p+r}{4}\delta^2 \le \|A_nY_n\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})}\|\Gamma[X_n,Y_n]\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})},$$

which implies that for some $\delta' > 0$ we have $||A_nY_n|| \ge \delta'$. Then, since $\mathbf{E}[F_n^2] = 1$, by orthogonality of R_n and A_nY_n we have also $\mathbf{E}[R_n^2] \le 1 - \delta'^2$. Moreover, the chain rule (3.5) implies that

$$\Gamma[F_n, X_n] = \Gamma[F_n, A_n]Y_n + A_n\Gamma[F_n, Y_n] + \sum_{s=1}^{q-1} \Gamma[F_n, \mathsf{J}_r R_n] + \Gamma[F_n, \mathsf{J}_q R_n].$$

Assume for the moment, that $(A_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is bounded in L^2 , then all the terms in the right-hand side vanish, but the last one, by minimality of q, as they all involve quantities of the form $\Gamma[F_n, Z_n]$ with Z_n a bounded sequence in \mathcal{W}_t with t < q. Since $\mathbf{E}[R_n^2] \leq 1 - \delta'$, taking into account the normalization in Definition 3.6, the last term has a norm bounded from above by $(1 - \delta'^2)^{1/2}\rho_q(F_n)$. Hence, letting $n \to \infty$ in the above equation yields that $\rho_q(F_n) \leq (1 - \delta'^2)^{1/2}\rho_q(F_n)$ which is absurd, hence the result. It remains to prove that $(A_n)_{n\geq 1}$ is a $L^2(\mathbf{P})$ -bounded sequence. To do so, we combine the equivalence of norms (3.2) with the fact that $Y_n \to \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$, which is (3.17). We thus have

$$\begin{aligned} \|A_n\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} &\leq \frac{1}{M} \|A_n Y_n\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} + \|A_n 1_{|Y_n| < M}\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{M} + 3^{\frac{r}{2}} \|A_n\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \, \mathbf{P}[|Y_n| \le M]^{\frac{1}{4}}. \end{aligned}$$

Since, $\mathbf{P}[|Y_n| \le M] \to \mathbf{P}[|N| \le M]$ for $N \sim \mathcal{N}(0, 1)$, for M small enough fixed and n large enough one has $3^{\frac{r}{2}} \mathbf{P}[|Y_n| \le M]^{\frac{1}{4}} \le \frac{1}{2}$ which by the above inequality gives that $||A_n||_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \le \frac{2}{M}$ for n large enough, hence the result.

We now present the decomposition procedure, which serves as the cornerstone of our proof by induction. **Lemma 3.18.** Let $p \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $(F_n)_{n\geq 1}$ be a sequence in \mathcal{W}_p with $\mathbf{E}[F_n^2] = 1$. Take an asymptotically normal sequence $(X_n)_{n\geq 1}$ in \mathcal{W}_q with $q \in \{1, ..., p-1\}$. Then, the following decomposition holds

(3.18)
$$F_n = \sum_{l=1}^{\lfloor \frac{p}{q} \rfloor} A_{n,l} H_l(X_n) + A_{n,0}$$

where, for every $l \in \left\{0, \dots, \left\lfloor \frac{p}{q} \right\rfloor\right\}$, $A_{n,l} \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq (p-lq)}$ is

(i) asymptotically independent: $(A_{n,l}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_n)$, namely

$$\Gamma[A_{n,l},X_n] \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{L^2(\mathbf{P})} 0.$$

(ii) asymptotically chaoses:

$$(\mathsf{L} + p - lq)A_{n,l} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{L^2(\mathbf{P})} 0.$$

Proof. Introduce the vector space E_n to be the $L^2(\mathbf{P})$ -closure of $X_n \mathcal{W}_{p-q} + \mathcal{W}_{\leq (p-1)}$. Let P_n be the orthogonal projection of F_n on E_n . Write $F_n = P_n + R_n$ where $R_n \in E_n^{\perp}$. We proceed by induction with some preparatory steps.

(a) **Asymptotic independence of** (R_n) . Using (3.1)), $X_n \mathcal{W}_{p-q} \subset \mathcal{W}_{\leq p}$ which implies that $E_n \subset \mathcal{W}_{\leq p}$, and thus $R_n = F_n - P_n \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq p}$. Besides, since $\mathcal{W}_{\leq (p-1)} \subset E_n$, we have $(E_n)^{\perp} \subset \mathcal{W}_{\leq (p-1)}^{\perp}$ guaranteeing that $R_n \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq p} \cap \mathcal{W}_{\leq (p-1)}^{\perp} = \mathcal{W}_p$. Assume by contradiction that $\Gamma[R_n, X_n] \neq 0$. Up to extracting a subsequence one finds $\delta > 0$ such that $\|\Gamma[R_n, X_n]\| \geq \delta$. By definition of orthogonal projection, and Lemma 3.4, we get

$$\mathbf{E}[R_n X_n A] = 0 = \frac{1}{q} \mathbf{E}[\Gamma[R_n, X_n] A].$$

On the other hand, using Lemma 3.11, we infer that $\Gamma[R_n, X_n]$ asymptotically belongs to \mathcal{W}_{p-q} . Choosing $A := \mathsf{J}_{p-q}(\Gamma[R_n, X_n])$, which by Lemma 3.11 is $\Gamma[R_n, X_n] + o_{L^2(\mathbf{P})}(1)$, we find that for *n* large enough that $\mathbf{E}[R_n X_n A] \ge \frac{\delta^2}{2} > 0$ which is contradictory. Thus, we deduce that $\Gamma[R_n, X_n] \to 0$

(b) Asymptotic chaos from asymptotic independence. Let us assume that we are given a decomposition (3.18) with $(A_{n,l}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_n)$ and let us show that they are automatically asymptotically chaotic. Since $F_n \in W^p$ applying (L + pI) to (3.18), and developing L(AX) using the definition of Γ we find that

$$0 = \sum_{l=1}^{\lfloor \frac{p}{q} \rfloor} \left[2\Gamma(A_{n,l}, H_l(X_n)) + A_{n,l}(\mathsf{L} + lq)H_l(X_n) + H_l(X_n)(\mathsf{L} + p - lq)A_{n,l} \right] + (\mathsf{L} + p)A_{n,0}.$$

Since $A_{n,l} \in \mathcal{A}(X_n)$, by the chain rule (3.5), $\Gamma(A_{n,l}, H_l(X_n)) \to 0$, in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$; while, by Theorem 3.9 (iii) $(\mathsf{L} + lq)H_l(X_n) \to 0$ also in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$. On the other hand, $(A_{n,l}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_n)$ thus by Proposition 3.14 the $A_{n,l}$'s are asymptotically independent of (X_n) . In particular, using that asymptotically the $H_l(X_n)$ are orthogonal for different values of l, we find, taking the variance in the above equation that

$$0 = \sum_{l=0}^{\lfloor \frac{p}{q} \rfloor} \mathbf{E} \left[\left((\mathsf{L} + lq) A_{n,l} \right)^2 \right] + o(1).$$

This shows that the $A_{n,l}$'s are indeed asymptotically chaotic.

It remains to show that a decomposition such as (3.18) exists a that it satisfies the asymptotic independence, which we prove by induction.

(c) **Initialisation**. Let p := 2. Since q < p, we have q = 1. Considering as before the orthogonal projection of F_n on E_n , the closure of $X_n W_1 + W_{\leq 1}$, we write $F_n = P_n + R_n$. The previous step ensures that $\Gamma(F_n, R_n) \to 0$. Since $X_n \in W_1$ we actually have that

$$X_n \mathcal{W}_1 + \mathcal{W}_{<1} = H_2(X_n) \mathbb{R} \oplus X_n(X_n^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{W}_{<1}) \oplus (X_n^{\perp} \cap \mathcal{W}_{<1}),$$

which is already closed. Thus $P_n = a_n H_2(X_n) + X_n N_n + B_n$ for some $a_n \in \mathbb{R}$, $N_n \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq 1}$ independent of X_n and $B_n \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq 1}$, also independent of X_n . We claim that setting $A_{n,2} \coloneqq a_n$, $A_{n,1} \coloneqq N_n$, and $A_{n,0} \coloneqq B_n + R_n$ yields the desired decomposition. Indeed, since N_n , B_n and a_n are independent of X_n , we get that

$$\Gamma(X_n, a_n) = \Gamma(X_n, N_n) = \Gamma(X_n, B_n) = 0,$$

Since $\Gamma(X_n, R_n) \to 0$, we have that the asymptotic independence is satisfied, by Proposition 3.14. (d) **Induction step**. Take p > 2 and assume that the decomposition is proved for all p' < p. In this case, although it must be possible to decompose E_n in a direct sum as in the initialization step, since we are dealing with Wiener chaoses of degree more than 1, orthogonality and independence are not the same and that would render finding this orthogonal decomposition more tedious, thus we adopt a slightly different strategy. Since we are projecting on E_n that is a closure, we write $F_n = X_n A_n + B_n + R_n + o(1)$ where $A_n \in W_{p-q}, B_n \in W_{\leq (p-1)}$, and where the o(1) represent the approximation of the closure by elements of E_n . Since p - q < p, we apply our induction hypothesis on A_n , this yields coefficients $C_{n,l} \in \mathcal{A}(X_n)$ such that

$$A_n = \sum_{l=1}^{\left\lfloor \frac{p-q}{q} \right\rfloor} C_{n,l} H_l(X_n).$$

Then using well-known recursive formulas for Hermite polynomials, we get

$$A_n X_n = \sum_{l=2}^{\lfloor \frac{p-q}{q} \rfloor + 1} C_{l-1,n} H_l(X_n) + \sum_{l=0}^{\lfloor \frac{p-q}{q} \rfloor - 1} (l+1) C_{l+1,n} H_l(X_n).$$

We handle B_n similarly by considering its different chaotic decomposition. As a result, one can decompose $A_nX_n + B_n$ as linear combinations of $(H_l(X_n))_l$ with coefficients in $\mathcal{A}(X_n)$. The maximal index l involved in this decomposition is given by $\lfloor \frac{p-q}{q} \rfloor + 1 \leq \lfloor \frac{p}{q} \rfloor$.

Since by Lemma 3.17 any direction of strongest influence is asymptotically normal, these directions are natural candidates to apply (3.18). We now establish that iterating this decomposition is a compatible with our influence-based criterion.

Lemma 3.19. Apply the decomposition (3.18) with (X_n) a direction of strongest influence. Then, for some constant $c_{p,q} > 0$ only depending on (q, p), we have $||A_{0,n}||_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \le 1 - c_{p,q}\delta$. Moreover,

$$\rho_r(A_{0,n}) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0, \qquad r < q.$$

Remark 3.20. Since r < q, we have by minimality of q that $\rho_r(F_n) \to 0$. Thus, this result states that if $\rho_r(F_n) \to 0$, then $\rho_r(A_{n,0}) \to 0$.

Proof. Take (Z_n) a sequence in \mathcal{W}_r . Taking the carré du champ in (3.18) yields

$$\Gamma(F_n, Z_n) = \sum_{l=1}^{\lfloor \frac{p}{q} \rfloor} A_{n,l} H'_l(X_n) \Gamma(X_n, Z_n) + \sum_{l=1}^{\lfloor \frac{p}{q} \rfloor} H_l(X_n) \Gamma(A_{n,l}, Z_n) + \Gamma(A_{n,0}, Z_n)$$

By minimality of q, the left-hand side vanishes as $n \to \infty$. Since (X_n) is asymptotically Gaussian by Lemma 3.17, we find by Theorem 3.9 (v) that the first term in the right-hand side also vanishes. Thus

$$o_{L^{2}(\mathbf{P})}(1) = \sum_{l=1}^{\lfloor \frac{p}{q} \rfloor} H_{l}(X_{n}) \Gamma(A_{n,l}, Z_{n}) + \Gamma(A_{n,0}, Z_{n}).$$

Using that by Theorem 3.9 (iii), $H_l(X_n)$ is asymptotically a chaos, and the orthogonality of Wiener chaos, this yields

$$\Gamma(A_{n,l}, Z_n) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{L^2(\mathbf{P})} 0, \qquad l \in \left\{0, \dots, \lfloor \frac{p}{q} \rfloor\right\}.$$

We also establish that iterating our construction preserves the asymptotic independence.

Lemma 3.21. Let (R_n) sequence in W_p that is not asymptotically Gaussian. Let $(X_{n,1})$ an asymptotically Gaussian sequence in W_{q_1} . Let $(X_{n,2})$ a sequence in W_{q_2} a direction of strongest influence for (R_n) . Apply the decomposition (3.18) to R_n that is

$$R_n = \sum_{l=0}^{\left\lfloor \frac{p}{q_2} \right\rfloor} A_{n,l} H_l(X_{n,2}).$$

If $(R_n) \in \mathcal{A}(X_{n,1})$. Then, $(X_{n,2})$ and $(A_{n,l}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_{n,1})$.

Proof. If $q_1 \neq q_2$ then by Theorem 3.9, we find that $(X_{n,2}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_{n,1})$. If $q_1 = q_2$, using orthogonal projections, write $X_{n,2} = a_n X_{n,1} + Z_n$, where $\mathbf{E}[Z_n X_{n,1}] = 0$. Then,

$$\Gamma(R_n, X_{n,2}) = a_n \Gamma(R_n, X_{n,1}) + \Gamma(R_n, Z_n),$$

where the first term on the right-hand side vanishes by assumption. Since (Y_n) is a directional of strongest influence, and that $\overline{Z_n} \in \mathcal{W}_{q_2}$ with $\mathbf{E}[Z_n^2] = 1 - a_n^2$, we find

$$\rho_{q_2}(F_n) \le \sqrt{1 - a_n^2} \rho_{q_2}(F_n) + \frac{1}{n}.$$

Thus $a_n \to 0$ which implies that $\Gamma(X_{n,1}, X_{n,2}) \to 0$. No

tow let us handle, the
$$A_{n,l}$$
's. Here, we have no assumption on q_1 and q_2 . Write

$$\Gamma(R_n, X_{n,1}) = \sum_l A_{n,l} \Gamma(H_l(X_{n,2}), X_{n,1}) + \sum_l H_l(X_{n,2}) \Gamma(A_{n,l}, X_{n,1})$$

By assumption, the right-hand side vanishes as $n \to 0$. Also, since, we have shown that $\Gamma(X_{n,1}, X_{n,2})$ vanishes with $n \to \infty$, the first sum on the right-hand side also vanishes. Finally, by construction $(A_{n,l}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_{n,2})$, and form the previous point $(X_{n,1}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_{n,2})$. It follows that, by Lemma 3.13, $\Gamma(A_{n,l}, X_{n,1}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_{n,1})$. Using that the Hermite polynomials are an orthonormal basis for the Gaussian measure and that $X_{n,2}$ is asymptotically Gaussian, we find

$$o_{L^2(\mathbf{P})}(1) = \sum_l \mathbf{E} \big[\Gamma(A_{n,l}, X_{n,2})^2 \big].$$

We now describe the result of iterating the decomposition (3.18). We define recursively, the random variables $(A_{n,k,l})$, $(X_{n,k})$, and $(R_{n,k})$ in the following way. Set

$$\begin{split} & \varepsilon_{n,1,} \coloneqq (A_{n,0} - \mathsf{J}_p A_{n,0}), & \text{and for } l > 1 \ A_{n,1,l} \coloneqq A_{n,l}, \\ & X_{n,1} \coloneqq X_n, \\ & F_{n,1} \coloneqq \sum_{l=1}^{\lfloor \frac{p}{q} \rfloor} A_{n,1,l} H_l(X_n) + A_{n,1,0}, \\ & R_{n,1} \coloneqq \mathsf{J}_p A_{n,0}. \end{split}$$

Since $(A_{n,0})$ is asymptotically in \mathcal{W}_p , we have in fact that $\varepsilon_{n,1}$ is negligible when $n \to \infty$. By construction, $R_{n,1} \in \mathcal{W}_p$ with $\mathbf{E}[R_{n,1}^2] \leq 1 - c\delta$. If $(R_{n,1})$ is asymptotically Gaussian, we stop; otherwise we apply the decomposition (3.18) to $R_{n,1}$ which produces $A_{n,2,l}, X_{n,2}, F_{n,2}$ and $R_{n,2}$. Repeating the procedure, we obtain the following result.

Lemma 3.22. There exist an interval $K \subset \mathbb{N}$, possibly infinite, integers $(q_k : k \in K)$, and for every $k \in K$ random sequences

- $(R_{n,k})_n$ in \mathcal{W}_p , $(X_{n,k})_n$ in \mathcal{W}_{q_k} for some q_k ,
- $(A_{n,k,l})_n$ in $\mathcal{W}_{\leq (p-lq_k)}$ for $l \in \left\{1, \dots, \left|\frac{p}{q_k}\right|\right\}$,
- $(\varepsilon_{n,k,})_n$ in $\mathcal{W}_{\leq (p-1)}$,

such that

- (i) $(X_{n,k+1})_n$ is a direction of strongest influence for $(R_{n,k})_n$, and $\Gamma(X_{n,k}, X_{n,k'}) \to 0$ for $k \neq k'$,
- (*ii*) $(R_{n,k'})_n, (A_{n,k',l})_n \in \mathcal{A}((X_{n,k})_n), \text{ for } k' < k,$
- (iii) $\varepsilon_{n,k} = o_{L^2(\mathbf{P})}(1)$,
- (iv) we have $F_n = F_{n,1} + \dots + F_{n,k} + R_{n,k}$, where

$$F_{n,k} := \sum_{l=1}^{\lfloor \frac{\nu}{q_l} \rfloor} A_{n,k,l} H_l(X_{n,k}) + \varepsilon_{n,k,l},$$

(v) $(F_{n,1}, \dots, F_{n,k}, R_{n,k})_n$ forms an asymptotic orthogonal sequence.

Proof. As mentioned above we iterate (3.18). *K* is simply given by the interval that contains all the *k* until we stop the procedure, that is until $(R_{n,k})_n$ is asymptotically Gaussian, which might never happen in which case $K = \mathbb{N}$. From the construction and successive iteration of Lemma 3.21, we have already that (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) hold. Thus, only (v) remains to be proven. By Lemma 3.21, we have that for $k' < k, (F_{n,k}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_{n,k'})$. Thus

$$\mathbf{E}[F_{n,k}F_{n,k'}] = \sum_{l=1}^{\left\lfloor \frac{p}{q_{k'}} \right\rfloor} \mathbf{E}[A_{n,k',l}F_{n,k}H_l(X_{n,k'})].$$

The sum above vanishes since $(A_{n,k',l}F_{n,k}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_{n,k'})$. Finally, since $(R_{n,k}) \in \mathcal{A}(X_{n,k'})$, we also get that $\mathbf{E}[F_{n,k'}R_{n,k}]\to 0.$

We need a final ingredient for our proof by induction. At this point, all the $F_{n,k}$ are decomposed in sum of chaoses of lower degrees that we could handle by induction. However, $R_{n,k}$ is still in \mathcal{W}_p , to overcome this difficulty we show that it can be taken asymptotically Gaussian. When K is unbounded, for a fixed k, $(R_{n,k})$ might fail to be asymptotically Gaussian. Our idea is to use that for $k_n \to \infty$ then we can restore the asymptotic normality. The following result shows that up to taking an sufficiently slowly growing (k_n) , we have that (R_{n,k_n}) is asymptotically Gaussian.

Lemma 3.23. Up to extraction, there exists a sequence of integers (k_n) such that $k_n \rightarrow \sup K$ and built upon Lemma 2.4 such that we have that (R_{n,k_n}) is asymptotically Gaussian.

23

Proof. There is only something to prove whenever *K* is unbounded. Otherwise, any converging sequence (k_n) is eventually constant equals to $k^* := \max K$ and in this case (R_{n,k^*}) is asymptotically normal by construction. Thus, we assume that $K = \mathbb{N}$. First, by definition $\rho_0(F_n) = 0$ and $\rho_q(F_n) \ge \delta > 0$. By Lemma 3.8, we can take consider *s* the largest integer such that $\rho_s(F_n) \to 0$. To conclude, it suffices to show that for any (k_n) converging to ∞ , then $\rho_{s+1}(R_{n,k_n}) \to 0$. Thus, applying this fact a finite number of times, would yield that $\rho_{\lfloor \frac{p}{2} \rfloor}(R_{n,k_n}) \to 0$, and we conclude by Theorem 3.9. To prove the claim, recall that for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ we have constructed $(X_{n,k+1})$ in $\mathcal{W}_{q_{k+1}}$ that is a direction of strongest influence for $(R_{n,k})$. Thus

$$o_{q_{k_n+1}}(R_{n,k_n}) \le \frac{1}{n} + \left\| \Gamma(R_{n,k_n}, X_{n,k_n+1}) \right\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \le \frac{1}{n} + C \|F_{n,k_n+1}\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} + o_{L^2(\mathbf{P})}(1),$$

where we use that $R_{n,k_n} = F_{n,k_n+1} + R_{n,k_n+1}$, that $\Gamma(R_{n,k_n+1}, X_{n,k_n}) \to 0$, and that by equivalence of norms (3.2) and the asymptotic independence (ii) in Lemma 3.22, $\Gamma(F_{n,k_n+1}, X_{n,k_n})$ has a norm comparable to that of F_{n,k_n} . Up to extraction, we have that

$$\left\|F_{n,k}\right\|_{L^2(\mathbf{P})}\xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{}\sigma_k.$$

In view of the orthogonal property (v) in Lemma 3.22, we find that $\sum_k \sigma_k^2 \leq 1$. Thus $\sigma_{k_n+1} \to 0$ for any $k_n \to \infty$, which shows that $\rho_{q_{k_n}}(R_{n,k_n}) \to 0$. Moreover in view of Lemma 2.4, we have that $||F_{n,k_n+1}||_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \leq c\sigma_{k_n+1} + o(1)$. Since by construction $k_n \geq s + 1$, we conclude by Lemma 3.8.

3.4. **Main result through an induction procedure.** To state properly our results, we consider convergence in law for infinite random vectors with Wiener chaotic components. Here, we understand the convergence in the usual sense of convergence of all finite dimensional marginals, but with the additional requirement that the limit can be represented as an infinite random vector whose components belong to the Wiener space.

Definition 3.24. Let $(\vec{F}_n) = (F_{n,1}, \dots, F_{n,i}, \dots)_{n \ge 1}$ such that for all $i \ge 1$, there exists $p_i \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $F_{n,i} \in \mathcal{W}_{p_i}$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We say that $(\vec{F}_n)_{n \ge 1}$ *Wiener-converges in law* provided there exists $\vec{F}_{\infty} = (F_{\infty,1}, F_{\infty,2}, \dots)$ such that for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$ $F_{\infty,i} \in \mathcal{W}_{\le p_i}$, and

$$\vec{F}_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \vec{F}_\infty.$$

Remark 3.25. Our Theorem 1.2 can thus be rephrased by saying that convergence in law in equivalent to Wiener-convergence in law.

Let us introduce the following definition that helps to formalize our proof.

Definition 3.26. For $d \in \mathbb{N}$. We say that a sequence $(\vec{F}_n)_n$ of infinite-random vector is *Wiener admissible* of degree d, provided there exists $p \in \mathbb{N}$ and integers $p_i \leq p$ such that $F_{n,i} \in \mathcal{W}_{p_i}$, at least one of the following condition holds

(i) $(F_{n,i})$ is asymptotically Gaussian;

(ii) or,
$$p_i \leq d$$
.

We now complete the proof of Theorem 1.2 by proving the following result by induction.

Theorem 3.27. Let $d \in \mathbb{N}$ and let $(\vec{F})_n$ be d-admissible. Assume that (\vec{F}_n) converges in law, then (\vec{F}_n) Wiener-converges in law. Moreover, notion \vec{F}_{∞} a vector realising the Wiener convergence in law, we have that $F_{\infty,i}$ is Gaussian if and only if $F_{\infty,i} \in \mathcal{W}_1$.

Proof. We work by induction on *d*. We have already proved the initialisation, that is d = 1 (actually also d = 2 and d = 3) in Theorem 1.7. Take $d \ge 2$, and assume the claim is proved for all d' < d. Let (\vec{F}_n) be *d*-admissible and converging in distribution, without loss of generality we further assume that $\mathbf{E}\left[F_{n,i}^2\right] = 1$ for *i* and *n*. Let us define $I := \{i \ge 1 | F_{n,i} \not\rightarrow \mathcal{N}(0,1)\}$. The indices not in *I* are covered immediately by the induction hypothesis and their limits are in the first Wiener chaos. Now for each $i \in I$ one apply our decomposition lemma Lemma 3.22to $F_{n,i}$ and we obtain that there exists a $k_i^* \in \mathbb{N} \cap \{\infty\}$ such that for all $i \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and all $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $k \le k_i^*$

$$F_{n,i} = F_{n,i,1} + \dots + F_{n,i,k} + R_{n,i,k},$$

where $F_{n,i,k} = \sum_{l\geq 0} A_{n,i,k,l} H_l(X_{n,i,k})$. Let us write $q_{i,k}$ for the integer such that $X_{n,i,k} \in \mathcal{W}_{q_{i,k}}$, and for short let $l_{i,k} := \lfloor \frac{p}{q_{i,k}} \rfloor$. Up to extraction, there exists real numbers $(\sigma_{i,k})$ such that $||F_{n,i,k}||_{L^2(\mathbf{P})} \to \sigma_{i,k}$. By Lemma 2.4, we can find $k_{n,i} \to k_i^*$, such that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{T_{n,i}} \left| \mathbf{E} \Big[F_{n,i,k}^2 \Big] - \sigma_{i,k}^2 \Big| \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0, \qquad i \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Consider the vectors

$$\vec{V}_{n} := \left(A_{n,i,k,l}, X_{n,i,k}, R_{n,i,k_{n,i}} : i \in \mathbb{N}^{*}, l \in \{1, \dots, l_{i,k}\}\right), \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}$$

By Lemma 3.23, (\vec{V}_n) is admissible. Thus, by the induction hypothesis, up to extraction, there exists

$$\vec{V}_{\infty} \coloneqq \left(A_{\infty,i,k,l}, X_{\infty,i,k}, R_{\infty,i} : i \in \mathbb{N}^*, l \in \{1, \dots, l_{i,k}\}\right),$$

with $A_{\infty,i,k,l} \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq (p-lq_{k,i})}$ and $R_{\infty,i}$ and $X_{\infty,i,k} \in \mathcal{W}_1$, such that

$$\vec{V}_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \vec{V}_\infty$$

Define further

$$F_{\infty,i,k} \coloneqq \sum_{l=1}^{l_{i,k}} A_{\infty,i,k,l} H_l(X_{\infty,i,k}).$$

Moreover, since for $i \in \mathbb{N}^*$, $(F_{\infty,i,k})_{k]}$ are orthogonal by Lemma 3.22 (v), we find that the $(F_{\infty,i,k})_k$ are also orthogonal, in particular the series

$$S_{\infty,i} \coloneqq \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} F_{\infty,k,i},$$

exists in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$, and is an element of $\mathcal{W}_{\leq p_i}$ since the later is closed in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$. Define $F_{\infty,i} \coloneqq F_{\infty,i} + R_{\infty,i} \in \mathcal{W}_{\leq p_i}$. We claim that

$$\vec{F}_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \vec{F}_{\infty},$$

which would conclude the proof. This is not completely immediate since $S_{\infty,i}$ is an infinite series. However, we can use again the properties of (k_n) from Lemma 2.4 as in the proof of Theorem 1.7 to truncate the series and conclude for the convergence.

We conclude this section with the proof of Theorem 1.4.

Proof of Theorem 1.4. We proceed by induction on p - s. When s = p - 1, the lemma 3.9 ensures a Gaussian limit for F_n hence Q must be linear in this case. Indeed $\left\lfloor \frac{p}{s+1} \right\rfloor = 1$ which is consistent. As

established above, for any sequence $(F_n)_{n\geq 1}$ in \mathcal{W}_p , one may write for any $r \geq 1$ that $F_n = \sum_{i=1}^r F_{n,r} + R_{n,r}$, where

•
$$F_{n,i} = \sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor p/q_i \rfloor} A_{k,n}^{(i)} H_k(X_{n,i}),$$

• $X_{n,i} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} \mathcal{N}(0,1) \text{ and } \|\Gamma[R_{n,i-1}, X_{n,i}]\|_2 \ge \rho_{q_i}(R_{n,i}) - 1/n.$

If one further assume that $\rho_s(F_n) \to 0$, for some $s \ge 1$, then one gets that $q_i \ge s + 1$ in the above decomposition. Indeed, recall that $q_i := \min(k \ge 1 | \rho_k(R_{n,i-1}) = \rho_k(A_{0,n}^{(i-1)}) \ne 0)$ and that thanks to Lemma 3.23 we get that $\rho_s(A_{k,n}^{(i)}) \to 0$ for each $k \in [0, \frac{p}{q_i}]$ and each $i \ge 1$. Besides, relying on the proof of our main Theorem, we may assert that for some suitable $r_n \to \infty$ we have $\rho_{s+1}(R_{n,r_n}) \to 0$ as well as (up to extracting subsequences)

•
$$F_{n,i} \to F_{\infty,i} \coloneqq \sum_{k=1}^{\lfloor p/q_i \rfloor} A_k^{(i)} H_k(X_{\infty,i}),$$

•
$$R_{n,r_n} \to R_{\infty}$$
,
• $F_n \to \sum_{i=1}^{\infty} F_{i,\infty} + R_{\infty}$ (the series is converging in L^2)

with all convergences being joint. By our induction hypothesis we may already infer that R_{∞} may be represented by a polynomial of degree less than $\lfloor p/(s+2) \rfloor$. Moreover, $X_{\infty,i}$ is an element of the first chaos and $H_k(X_{\infty,i})$ is then a degree *k*-polynomial. Besides, for each $i \ge 1$ and each $k \in [\![1, p/q_i]\!]$, $A_{k,n}^{(i)}$ is asymptotically in \mathcal{W}_{p-kq_i} with $\rho_s(A_{k,n}^{(i)}) \to 0$. If $s \ge p - kq_i$ then we obtain that $A_{k,n}^{(i)}$ is asymptotically independent of a chaos of higher order which entails that $A_{k,n}^{(i)} \to 0$. When $p - kq_i \ge s + 1$, since $1 \le p - kq_i - s , we may use our induction hypothesis and <math>A_{k,\infty}^{(i)}$ may be represented by a polynomial of degree $\left\lfloor \frac{p-kq_i}{s+1} \right\rfloor$. Hence, $F_{i,\infty}$ is a polynomial of degree less than

$$\max_{k \in \llbracket 1, \lfloor (p-s-1)/q_i \rfloor \rrbracket} \left\lfloor \frac{p-kq_i}{s+1} \right\rfloor + k \le \max_{k \in \llbracket 1, \lfloor (p-s-1)/q_i \rfloor \rrbracket} \left\lfloor \frac{p-k(s+1)}{s+1} \right\rfloor + k = \left\lfloor \frac{p}{s+1} \right\rfloor$$

where the last inequality uses that $q_i \ge s + 1$ and that $x \mapsto \lfloor x \rfloor$ is monotonic. The final argument uses the fact that the series $\sum_{i\ge 1} F_{\infty,i}$ is converging in L^2 and the fact $\mathcal{W}_{\le m}$ is a closed space for any $m \ge 0$.

4. FROM STABILITY OF WIENER CHAOSES TO STABILITY OF ARBITRARY POLYNOMIAL CHAOSES

Theorem 4.1. Let $(P_{i,n})_{i,n}$ be polynomials of degree at most $d \in \mathbb{N}$; let \vec{X} be a vector of independent and identically random variables, that are centered, with unit variance, and admitting moments at every order; and let \vec{F}_n be the infinite random vector given by

$$F_{i,n} \coloneqq P_{i,n}(\vec{X}), \qquad i, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Assume that (\vec{F}_n) converges in law. Then, there exist polynomials $(Q_i)_i$ of degree at most d and an infinite random vector \vec{Y} with independent entries such that $\mathbf{law}[Y_i] \in \{\mathbf{law}[X_1], \mathcal{N}(0, 1)\}$ and

$$\vec{F}_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} (Q_i(\vec{Y}))_i.$$

4.1. **Reduction to multilinear polynomials.** We build upon an invariance results from [MOO10]. Let us introduce some notions taken from there. In view of our assumptions, there exist polynomials $T_0 := 1, T_1 := x, T_2 := x^2 - 1, ..., T_d$, such that the random variables $T_0X_1, T_1X_1, ..., T_dX_1$ are orthonormal. Let us consider the *orthonormal ensembles*

$$\mathcal{X}_j := \{T_0 X_j, T_1 X_j, \dots, T_d X_j\}$$

Then the $F_{n,i}$'s are multilinear polynomials over these ensembles, namely

$$F_{n,i} = \sum_{\alpha \in \{1,\dots,d\}^{\mathbb{N}}} a_{n,i,\alpha} \prod_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \mathcal{X}_{j,\alpha_j},$$

for suitably chosen real coefficients $(a_{n,i,\alpha})$. Since all the \mathcal{X}_j 's actually contains the same number of variables, it is sufficient for our purpose to work with elementary multilinear polynomials of the form

(4.1)
$$\sum_{I \subset \mathbb{N}} a_J Z_J,$$

where the a_J 's are real coefficients and $Z_J := \prod_{j \in J} Z_j$, with $Z_j \in \mathcal{X}_j$.

4.2. Proof by induction.

Definition 4.2. We say that a sequence of vectors (\vec{F}_n) is *d*-admissible provided that there exists $K \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all *i* and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $F_{n,i}$ is a multilinear polynomial as in (4.1) with degree at most *K*, and

- (i) either $\tau(F_{n,i}) \to 0$, as $n \to \infty$,
- (ii) or $\deg(F_{n,i}) \le d$.

Definition 4.3 (Induction hypothesis). For all $d \in \mathbb{N}$, we write H(d) to indicate that the conclusion of Theorem 4.1 holds provided (\vec{F}_n) is a *d*-admissible sequence.

In view of Section 4.1, establishing H(d) for all $d \in \mathbb{N}$ proves Theorem 4.1.

4.3. **Initialisation.** Take a 1-admissible sequence (\vec{F}_n) . This means that for *n* and $i \in \mathbb{N}$ either $F_{n,i}$ is linear, either $\tau(F_{n,i}) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$.

4.3.1. Decomposition of the linear terms. Let us write *I* for the set of indices *i* such that for all $n \in \mathbb{N} F_{n,i}$ is linear. Since we can discard the constants that do not play a role in the argument, we can write for all $i \in I$,

$$F_{n,i} = \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} a_{n,i,j} Z_j,$$

for some real numbers $a_{n,i,j}$. Choose a permutation $\sigma_{n,i}$ that order the $(a_{n,i,j})_j$ in module, namely we require that

$$|a_{n,i,\sigma_{n,i}(1)}| \ge |a_{n,i,\sigma_{n,i}(2)}| \ge ...$$

Without loss of generality, we assume that $\sigma_{n,1} = id$. Up to extracting non-relabelled subsequences, we have that

$$a_{n,i,\sigma_{n,i}(j)} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} a_{\infty,i,j},$$

for some real numbers $a_{\infty,i,j}$. Since the elements of the sequences are ordered, we find that the convergence holds in $\ell^{\infty}(\mathbb{N})$. Indeed, we first notice that we have

$$\begin{array}{l} \bullet \ \forall j \geq 1, \, a_{n,i,\sigma_{n,i}(j)}^2 \leq \frac{a_{n,i,\sigma_{n,i}(1)}^2 + \cdots + a_{n,i,\sigma_{n,i}(j)}^2}{j} \leq \frac{1}{j} \\ \bullet \ \forall j \geq 1, \, \left| a_{n,i,\sigma_{n,i}(j)} - a_{\infty,i,j} \right| \to 0. \end{array}$$

Gathering these two facts entails the ℓ^{∞} -convergence.

4.3.2. Terms with small influence. In particular, letting

$$R_{n,i} \coloneqq \begin{cases} \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} (a_{n,i,\sigma_{n,i}(j)} - a_{\infty,i,j}) Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)}, & i \in I; \\ F_{n,i}, & i \notin I. \end{cases}$$

we find that $\tau(R_{n,i}) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Take $\vec{G} = (G_k)$ a standard Gaussian vector. Our first result characterizes the limit in law for elements of low influence following a combination of an invariance principle [Rot79; MOO10] together with our stability result Theorem 3.1.

Lemma 4.4. There exist polynomials $(T_{\infty,i})$ with $\deg(T_{\infty,i}) \leq K$ for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\deg(T_{\infty,i}) \leq 1$ for $i \in I$ such that

(4.2)
$$(R_{n,i} : i \in \mathbb{N}) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} (T_{\infty,i}(\vec{G}) : i \in \mathbb{N}).$$

Proof. Take polynomials $(T_{n,i})$ such that $R_{n,i} = T_{n,i}(\vec{Z})$. By Theorem 3.1, there exist polynomials $T_{\infty,i}$ as in the claim such that

(4.3)
$$\left(T_{n,i}(\vec{G}) : i \in I\right) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \left(T_{\infty,i}(\vec{G}) : i \in I\right)$$

Take $M \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Consider the Wasserstein distance \mathbf{W}_2 defined in (2.1), by the triangle inequality

$$(4.4) \qquad \mathbf{W}_{2}\left(\begin{pmatrix} R_{n,1} \\ \dots \\ R_{n,M} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} T_{\infty,1}(\vec{G}) \\ \dots \\ T_{\infty,M}(\vec{G}) \end{pmatrix}\right) \leq \mathbf{W}_{2}\left(\begin{pmatrix} R_{n,1} \\ \dots \\ R_{n,M} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} T_{n,1}(\vec{G}) \\ \dots \\ T_{n,M}(\vec{G}) \end{pmatrix}\right) + \mathbf{W}_{2}\left(\begin{pmatrix} T_{n,1}(\vec{G}) \\ \dots \\ T_{n,M}(\vec{G}) \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} T_{\infty,1}(\vec{G}) \\ \dots \\ T_{\infty,M}(\vec{G}) \end{pmatrix}\right)$$

Since the Wasserstein distance \mathbf{W}_2 metrizes the convergence in law for random polynomials vectors in \mathbb{R}^M (see Corollary 2.3), the second term in the right hand side vanishes as $n \to \infty$. On the other hand by the multivariate version of the invariance principle from [MOO10], see [NPR10, Thm. 7.1], the first term is controlled, up to a constant, by $\max_{i=1,...,M} \tau(T_{n,i})$. Since by construction this influence goes to 0, we conclude that the left-hand side in (4.4) goes to 0. Since this holds for an arbitrary $M \in \mathbb{N}^*$, the proof is complete.

4.3.3. *The* ℓ^2 *-term.* Here, our goal is to understand the asymptotic as $n \to \infty$ of the linear terms

$$L_{n,i} \coloneqq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} a_{\infty,i,j} Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)}.$$

Since the coefficients $a_{\infty,i,j}$'s are already independent of *n*, we study the limit in law of $(Z_{\sigma_n,i(j)})$. Define

$$C_n((i,j),(\tilde{\iota},\tilde{\jmath})) := \mathbf{E} \Big[Z_{\sigma_{n,\tilde{\iota}}(j)} Z_{\sigma_{n,\tilde{\iota}}(\tilde{\jmath})} \Big] \in \{0,1\}.$$

Up to non-relabelled extractions, we have that C_n converges pointwise to some C_{∞} . Define the relation $(i, j) \sim (\tilde{i}, \tilde{j})$ provided $C((i, j), (\tilde{i}, \tilde{j})) = 1$, which is equivalent to: for *n* large enough $Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)} = Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)}$. From this representation, we see that \sim is an equivalence relation. Up to non-relabelled extraction, we can consider $\mu_{\infty,i,j}$ the limiting distribution of $Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)}$, which, by definition of \sim , only depends on the equivalence class of (i, j). Since the Z_i 's are independent and $\mathfrak{X} := \{\mathbf{law}[Z_i] : i \in \mathbb{N}\}$ is a finite set, we actually have that $\mu_{\infty,i,j} \in \mathfrak{X}$ Let us consider a sequence of independent random variables

$$(Z_{\infty,C} : C \in (\mathbb{N}^2 \setminus \sim)),$$

such that $\mathbf{law}[Z_{\infty,C}] = \mu_{\infty,i,j}$ for any $(i, j) \in C$. We build a \mathbb{N}^2 -indexed sequence from there by setting

$$Z_{\infty,i,j} \coloneqq Z_{\infty,C}, \qquad (i,j) \in C, \ C \in (\mathbb{N}^2 \setminus \sim).$$

Our construction guarantees that

(4.5)
$$(Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)} : (i,j) \in \mathbb{N}^2) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} (Z_{\infty,i,j} : (i,j) \in \mathbb{N}^2)$$

Define

$$L_{\infty,i} \coloneqq \sum_{j \in \mathbb{N}} a_{\infty,i,j} Z_{\infty,i,j},$$

which exists as a series converging in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$. Indeed, since $\sigma_{n,i}$ is a bijection, it is impossible to have $(i, j) \sim (i, \tilde{j})$ for $j \neq \tilde{j}$. Thus all the terms in the series are actually orthogonal and the series is convergent since $\sum_{i \in \mathbb{N}} a_{\infty,i,i}^2 \leq 1$. We can now characterize the limit in law of the $L_{n,i}$'s.

Lemma 4.5. With the above notations

$$(L_{n,i}: i \in \mathbb{N}) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} (L_{\infty,i}: i \in \mathbb{N}).$$

Proof. For an integer *Q* and $n \in \mathbb{N}$, write

$$L_{n,i}^{\leq Q} \coloneqq \sum_{j=0}^{Q} a_{\infty,i,j} Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)}, \quad \text{and} \quad L_{n,i}^{>Q} \coloneqq \sum_{j=Q+1}^{\infty} a_{\infty,i,j} Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)}.$$

We use a similar notation $L_{\infty,i}^{\leq Q}$ and $L_{\infty,i}^{>Q}$. Let $M \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Take Q such that

$$\max_{i=1,\dots,M}\sum_{j=Q+1}^{\infty}a_{\infty,i,j}^{2}\leq\varepsilon.$$

This ensures that

(4.6)
$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \max_{i=1,\dots,M} \mathbf{Var} \Big[L_{n,i}^{>Q} \Big] \le \varepsilon, \quad \text{and} \quad \max_{i=1,\dots,M} \mathbf{Var} \Big[L_{\infty,i}^{>Q} \Big] \le \varepsilon.$$

Consider the Wasserstein distance \mathbf{W}_2 defined in (2.1). By (4.6), we find that, uniformly in *n*,

$$\mathbf{W}_{2}\left(\begin{pmatrix}L_{n,1}\\\dots\\L_{n,M}\end{pmatrix},\begin{pmatrix}L_{n,1}^{\leq Q}\\\dots\\L_{m,M}^{\leq Q}\end{pmatrix}\right)+\mathbf{W}_{2}\left(\begin{pmatrix}L_{\infty,1}\\\dots\\L_{\infty,M}^{\leq Q}\end{pmatrix},\begin{pmatrix}L_{\infty,1}\\\dots\\L_{\infty,M}\end{pmatrix}\right)\leq 2M\varepsilon.$$

On the other hand, (4.5) implies that

$$\mathbf{W}_{2}\left(\begin{pmatrix} L_{n,1}^{\leq Q} \\ \dots \\ L_{n,M}^{\leq Q} \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} L_{\infty,1}^{\leq Q} \\ \dots \\ L_{\infty,M}^{\leq Q} \end{pmatrix}\right) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0.$$

Since ε is arbitrary, we actually find that $(L_{n,i} : i = 1, ..., M)$ converges in Wasserstein distance to $(L_{\infty,i} : i = 1, ..., M)$. Since the Wasserstein distance metrizes the convergence in law Corollary 2.3, and that the convergence holds for all $M \in \mathbb{N}^*$, this completes the proof.

4.3.4. Asymptotic independence and joint convergence. So far we have established the convergence of the low influence $R_{n,i}$'s and the linear $L_{n,i}$'s separately. Let us show that the two sequences are asymptotically independent.

Lemma 4.6. We further assume that \vec{G} and $(Z_{\infty,i,i})$ are independent. Then,

$$(L_{n,i}, R_{n,i} : i \in \mathbb{N}) \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} (L_{\infty,i}, R_{\infty,i} : i \in \mathbb{N}).$$

Proof. Fix $M \in \mathbb{N}^*$ take $\Phi, \Psi \in \mathcal{C}_b^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^M)$. As above take $\varepsilon > 0$ and $Q \in \mathbb{N}^*$ such that (4.6) holds. Thus by a Taylor expansion, we find that

(4.7)
$$\mathbf{E}\left[\Phi((L_{n,i}))_{i\leq M}\Psi((R_{n,i})_{i\leq M})\right] = \mathbf{E}\left[\Phi((L_{n,i}^{\leq Q})_{i\leq M})\Psi((R_{n,i})_{i\leq M})\right] + O(M\varepsilon).$$

The random variables $(L_{n,i}^{\leq Q})_{i\leq M}$ only depend on the $l \coloneqq (Q+1)(M+1)$ random variables $(Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)} : i \leq M, j \leq Q)$. Let us write $(\hat{R}_{n,i})$ for the corresponding random variables where these *l* random variables are replaced by independent copies.

(4.8)
$$\mathbf{E}\Big[\Phi((L_{n,i}^{\leq Q}))_{i\leq M}\Psi((R_{n,i})_{i\leq M})\Big] = \mathbf{E}\Big[\Phi((L_{n,i}^{\leq Q})_{i\leq M})\Psi((\hat{R}_{n,i})_{i\leq M})\Big] + O(M\tau_n)_{i\leq M}$$

where $\tau_n := \max_{i=1,\dots,M} \tau(R_{n,i}) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Since the two random vectors on the right-hand side are now independent, combining (4.8) and (4.8) we find that

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}\big[\Phi((L_{n,i}))_{i\leq M}\Psi((R_{n,i})_{i\leq M})\big] &= \mathbf{E}\Big[\Phi((L_{n,i}^{\leq Q})_{i\leq M})\Big]\mathbf{E}\big[\Psi((\hat{R}_{n,i})_{i\leq M})\big] + O(M(\varepsilon+\tau_n)) \\ &= \mathbf{E}\big[\Phi((L_{n,i})_{i\leq M})\big]\mathbf{E}\big[\Psi((R_{n,i})_{i\leq M})\big] + O(M(\varepsilon+\tau_n)). \end{split}$$

Since ε was arbitrary, we obtain, by letting $n \to \infty$, the asymptotic independence for all vector of finite length *M*. Since *M* is also arbitrary, we conclude.

4.3.5. Conclusion. By the continuous mapping theorem, Lemma 4.6 ensures that

$$(F_{n,i}:i\in\mathbb{N})\xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{\mathbf{law}}(L_{\infty,i}+R_{\infty,i}:i\in\mathbb{N}),$$

where we recall that the Gaussian vector \vec{G} from which the $R_{\infty,i}$'s are constructed, and the array $(Z_{\infty,i,j})_{i,j}$ from which the $L_{\infty,i}$ are constructed are independent. To complete the proof, we now construct explicitly \vec{Y} and the Q_i 's such that the conclusion of Theorem 4.1 holds. Take any bijection $\varphi : \mathbb{N}^2 \to \mathbb{N}$. Define $\vec{Y} = (Y_k)$ with

$$Y_{2k} \coloneqq G_k$$
, and $Y_{2k+1} \coloneqq Z_{\infty, \varphi^{-1}(k)}$.

Recall that $R_{\infty,i} = T_{\infty,i}(\vec{G})$ for some polynomials $T_{\infty,i}$ which we can immediately write as $Q_{i,1}(\vec{Y})$. Defining $\mathbb{N}_i := \varphi(\{i\} \times \mathbb{N})$, we have

$$L_{\infty,i} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}_i} a_{\infty,\varphi^{-1}(k)} Y_{2k+1} \coloneqq Q_{i,2}(\vec{Y}).$$

Setting $Q_i \coloneqq Q_{i,1} + Q_{i,2}$ we conclude.

4.4. **Induction step.** Let us assume H(d) for some $d \in \mathbb{N}$, and let us show H(d + 1). Take (\vec{F}_n) a (d + 1)-admissible sequence. The idea is to build a *d*-admissible vector out of \vec{F}_n and use our induction hypothesis. Let $I_0 := \{i \in \mathbb{N} : \tau(F_{n,i}) \to 0\}$. Since elements with vanishing influence are for free in the definition of admissibility we keep $F_{n,i}$ as is for $i \in I_0$.

4.4.1. Decomposing the terms of large influence. For $i \notin I_0$, we consider permutations $\sigma_{n,i} \colon \mathbb{N} \to \mathbb{N}$ that orders the influences, namely

$$\tau_{\sigma_{n,i}(1)}(F_{n,i}) \ge \tau_{\sigma_{n,i}(2)}(F_{n,i}) \ge \dots$$

Our strategy consists in successively removing variables with large influence. To that extent, define

$$\mathcal{J}_{n,i,l} \coloneqq \{J \subset \mathbb{N} : \forall k \in \{1, \dots, l-1\}, \sigma_{n,i}(k) \notin J, \text{ and } \sigma_{n,i}(l) \in J\};\$$

In other words, $\mathcal{J}_{n,i,l}$ is the set of all subsets where the *l*-th largest indices, in terms of influence, appears but not the indices with larger influence. It is thus natural to define the polynomial with the *l*-th influence removed

$$R_{n,i,l} \coloneqq \sum_{J \in \mathcal{J}_{n,i,l}} a_J Z_{J \setminus \sigma_{n,i}(l)};$$

as well as the reminder

$$S_{n,i,p} \coloneqq \sum_{J \in \cap_{l \le p} \mathcal{J}_{n,i,l}^C} a_J Z_J.$$

By this construction, we find that for all $p \in \mathbb{N}^*$

(4.9)
$$F_{n,i} = Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(1)}R_{n,i,1} + \dots + Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(p)}R_{n,i,p} + S_{n,i,p}$$

Since we remove the *p*-th first largest influence and that $F_{n,i}$ is normalized, we also find that

(4.10)
$$\tau(S_{n,i,p}) \le O(1/p),$$
 uniformly in *n* and *i*.

4.4.2. The admissible vector and its convergence. Take (p_n) be an increasing sequence of integers converging to ∞ , to be specified later. By (4.10), we find that $\tau(S_{n,i,p_n}) \to 0$. On the other hand, the $Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)}$'s are polynomials of degree $\leq d$ — actually, they are of degree exactly 1. Similarly, all the $R_{n,i,j}$'s are, by construction, of degree at most d. Thus, any vector containing them is a d-admissible vector. To be concrete, choose a bijection $\varphi : \mathbb{N}^* \times \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{N}$. Consider the array $A_n = (A_n(i, j))_{i \in \mathbb{N}^*, j \in \mathbb{Z}}$ such that

$$\begin{split} A_n(i,0) &\coloneqq S_{n,i,p_n}; \\ A_n(i,j) &\coloneqq R_{n,i,j}, \qquad j \in \mathbb{N}^*; \\ A_n(i,j) &\coloneqq Z_{\sigma_{n,i}(j)}, \qquad j \in \mathbb{Z}_+^*; \end{split}$$

and define the vector

 $\vec{V}_n \coloneqq (A_n(\varphi^{-1}(k)) \ \colon k \in \mathbb{N}).$

Thus, (\vec{V}_n) is *d*-admissible and by the induction hypothesis, there exist \tilde{Q}_i of degree at most *d* and a vector \tilde{Y} such that

$$\vec{V}_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \vec{V}_\infty := (\tilde{Q}_i(\vec{Y}))$$

4.4.3. Identification of the limit of \vec{F}_n . We can subsequently define

$$\begin{split} & Z_{\infty,i,j} := V_{\infty,\varphi(i,-j)}; \\ & R_{\infty,i,j} := V_{\infty,\varphi(i,j)}; \\ & S_{\infty,i} := V_{\infty,\varphi(i,0)}; \\ & F_{\infty,i,j} := Z_{\infty,i,j} R_{\infty,i,j}. \end{split}$$

Since we are working with polynomials, by Theorem 2.1, we find that for all $i \in \mathbb{N}$, the terms of $(F_{\infty,i,j})_j$ are orthogonal and satisfy

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \mathbf{E} \Big[F_{\infty,i,j}^2 \Big] \le 1.$$

In particular, we find that the following random variables is well-defined

$$F_{\infty,i} \coloneqq \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} F_{\infty,i,j} + S_{\infty,i},$$

since the series converges in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$. Since the space of polynomials is also closed in $L^2(\mathbf{P})$ Theorem 2.2, we find that $F_{\infty,i} = Q_i(\vec{Y})$ for some Q_i of degree at most d.

4.4.4. Conclusion. To conclude, let us show the following.

$$\vec{F}_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{law}} \vec{F}_\infty$$

Again we need to show that despite the infinite series, the infinite series is not a problem. For this we use a truncation argument already presented in the initialisation case that we do not repeat.

References

- [AADL21] D. Armentano, J.-M. Azaïs, F. Dalmao & J. R. León. "Central limit theorem for the number of real roots of Kostlan Shub Smale random polynomial systems". *Am. J. Math.* 143.4 (2021), pp. 1011–1042. DOI: 10.1353/ajm.2021.0026.
- [AB09] B. V. Agafontsev & V. I. Bogachev. "Asymptotic properties of polynomials in Gaussian random variables". *Dokl. Math.* 80.3 (2009), pp. 806–809. DOI: 10.1134/S1064562409060064.
- [ALM21] R. Adamczak, R. Latała & R. Meller. "Moments of Gaussian chaoses in Banach spaces". *Electron. J. Probab.* 26 (2021), p. 36. DOI: 10.1214/20-EJP567.
- [AMMP16] E. Azmoodeh, D. Malicet, G. Mijoule & G. Poly. "Generalization of the Nualart-Peccati criterion". *Ann. Probab.* 44.2 (2016), pp. 924–954. DOI: 10.1214/14-A0P992.
- [APS24] R. Adamczak, P. Pivovarov & P. Simanjuntak. "Limit theorems for the volumes of small codimensional random sections of ℓ_n^p -balls". *Ann. Probab.* 52.1 (2024), pp. 93–126. DOI: 10.1214/23-A0P1646.
- [APY21] E. Azmoodeh, G. Peccati & X. Yang. "Malliavin-Stein method: a survey of some recent developments". Mod. Stoch., Theory Appl. 8.2 (2021), pp. 141–177. DOI: 10.15559/21– VMSTA184.
- [Arc99] M. A. Arcones. "The class of Gaussian chaos of order two is closed by taking limits in distribution". In: *Advances in stochastic inequalities*. AMS, 1999, pp. 13–19.
- [BDM17] B. B. Bhattacharya, P. Diaconis & S. Mukherjee. "Universal limit theorems in graph coloring problems with connections to extremal combinatorics". *Ann. Appl. Probab.* 27.1 (2017), pp. 337–394. DOI: 10.1214/16-AAP1205.
- [BDMM24] B. B. Bhattacharya, S. Das, S. Mukherjee & S. Mukherjee. "Fluctuations of quadratic chaos". Commun. Math. Phys. 405.10 (2024), p. 51. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-024-05072-w.
- [BH91] N. Bouleau & F. Hirsch. *Dirichlet forms and analysis on Wiener space*. De Gruyter Stud. Math. 14. de Gruyter, 1991. DOI: 10.1515/9783110858389.
- [BKNP15] V. I. Bogachev, E. D. Kosov, I. Nourdin & G. Poly. "Two properties of vectors of quadratic forms in Gaussian random variables". *Theory Probab. Appl.* 59.2 (2015), pp. 208–221. DOI: 10.1137/S0040585X97T987041.
- [BMM21] B. B. Bhattacharya, S. Mukherjee & S. Mukherjee. "Asymptotic distribution of Bernoulli quadratic forms". Ann. Appl. Probab. 31.4 (2021), pp. 1548–1597. DOI: 10.1214/20-AAP1626.
- [Bog16] V. I. Bogachev. "Distributions of polynomials on multidimensional and infinite dimensional spaces with measures". *Russ. Math. Surv.* 71.4 (2016), pp. 703–749. DOI: 10.1070/ RM9721.
- [Bog22] V. I. Bogachev. "Chebyshev-Hermite polynomials and distributions of polynomials in Gaussian random variables". *Theory Probab. Appl.* 66.4 (2022), pp. 550–569. DOI: 10.1137/ S0040585X97T990617.
- [BS11] G. Blatman & B. Sudret. "Adaptive sparse polynomial chaos expansion based on least angle regression". *J. Comput. Phys.* 230.6 (2011), pp. 2345–2367. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcp. 2010.12.021.
- [Cha05] S. Chatterjee. A simple invariance theorem. 2005. arXiv: math/0508213 [math.PR].
- [Cha06] S. Chatterjee. "A generalization of the Lindeberg principle". *Ann. Probab.* 34.6 (2006), pp. 2061–2076. DOI: 10.1214/009117906000000575.
- [Cha08] S. Chatterjee. "A new method of normal approximation". *Ann. Probab.* 36.4 (2008), pp. 1584–1610. DOI: 10.1214/07–A0P370.
- [Cha09] S. Chatterjee. "Fluctuations of eigenvalues and second order Poincaré inequalities". *Probab. Theory Relat. Fields* 143.1-2 (2009), pp. 1–40. DOI: 10.1007/s00440-007-0118-6.

[Che91]	P. Chebyshev. "On two theorems concerning probabilities." <i>Acta Math.</i> 14 (1891), pp. 305–315. DOI: 10.1007/BF02413327.
[CSZ20]	F. Caravenna, R. Sun & N. Zygouras. "The two-dimensional KPZ equation in the entire
[00722]	subcritical regime". Ann. Probab. 48.3 (2020), pp. 1086–1127. DOI: 10.1214/19-ADP1383.
[CSZ23]	F. Caravenna, R. Sun & N. Zygouras. "The critical 2d stochastic heat flow". <i>Invent. Math.</i>
[4]07]	233.1 (2023), pp. 325–460. DOI: 10.1007/s00222-023-01184-7.
[dJon87]	P. de Jong. "A central limit theorem for generalized quadratic forms". <i>Probab. Theory Relat. Fields</i> 75 (1987), pp. 261–277. DOI: 10.1007/BF00354037.
[dJon90]	P. de Jong. "A central limit theorem for generalized multilinear forms". J. Multivariate
	Anal. 34.2 (1990), pp. 275–289. DOI: 10.1016/0047–259X(90)90040–0.
[DP18]	C. Döbler & G. Peccati. "The fourth moment theorem on the Poisson space". Ann. Probab.
[]	46.4 (2018), pp. 1878–1916. DOI: 10.1214/17-A0P1215.
[DS18]	A. De & R. A. Servedio. "A new central limit theorem and decomposition for Gaussian
[2010]	polynomials, with an application to deterministic approximate counting". <i>Probab. Theory</i>
	<i>Relat. Fields</i> 171.3-4 (2018), pp. 981–1044. DOI: 10.1007/s00440-017-0804-y.
[EI20]	A. Eskenazis & P. Ivanisvili. "Polynomial inequalities on the Hamming cube". <i>Probab.</i>
[1120]	<i>Theory Relat. Fields</i> 178.1-2 (2020), pp. 235–287. DOI: 10.1007/s00440-020-00973-y.
[Fel35]	W. Feller. "Über den zentralen Grenzwertsatz in der Wahrscheinlichkeitsrechnung. I
	and II". <i>Math. Z.</i> 40 and 42 (1935), pp. 521–559, 301–312. DOI: 10.1007/BF01218878.
	10.1007/BF01160080.
[GK54]	B. V. Gnedenko & A. N. Kolmogorov. <i>Limit distributions for sums of independent random</i>
	variables. Addison-Wesley Mathematics Series. Addison-Wesley, 1954. URL: https://
	archive.org/details/gnedenko-kolmogorov-limit-distributions-for-sums-
	of-independent-random-variables/page/234/mode/2up.
[GQ24]	A. Gloria & S. Qi. Quantitative homogenization for log-normal coefficients via Malliavin
[0 22 1]	calculus: the one-dimensional case. 2024. arXiv: 2402.19182 [math.AP].
[GT99]	F. Götze & A. N. Tikhomirov. "Asymptotic distribution of quadratic forms". Ann. Probab.
[]	27.2 (1999), pp. 1072–1098. DOI: 10.1214/aop/1022677395.
[Hai24]	M. Hairer. <i>Renormalisation in the presence of variance blowup</i> . 2024. arXiv: 2401.10868
	[math.PR].
[HMP24]	R. Herry, D. Malicet & G. Poly. "Superconvergence phenomenon in Wiener chaoses". Ann.
	<i>Probab.</i> 52.3 (2024), pp. 1162–1200. DOI: 10.1214/24-A0P1689.
[Hoe48]	W. Hoeffding. "A class of statistics with asymptotically normal distribution". Ann. Math.
	Stat. 19 (1948), pp. 293–325. DOI: 10.1214/aoms/1177730196.
[Itô51]	K. Itô. "Multiple Wiener integral". J. Math. Soc. Japan 3 (1951), pp. 157-169. DOI: 10.
	2969/jmsj/00310157.
[Itô56]	K. Itô. "Spectral type of the shift transformation of differential processes with stationary
	increments". Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 81 (1956), pp. 253-263. DOI: 10.2307/1992916.
[Jan08]	S. Janson. Gaussian Hilbert spaces. Reprint 1997 ed. Camb. Tracts Math. 129. Cambridge
	University Press, 2008. DOI: 10.1017/CB09780511526169.
[JNP21]	A. Jaramillo, I. Nourdin & G. Peccati. "Approximation of fractional local times: zero
	energy and derivatives". Ann. Appl. Probab. 31.5 (2021), pp. 2143–2191. DOI: 10.1214/20-
	AAP1643.
[KKO18]	G. Kindler, N. Kirshner & R. O'Donnell. "Gaussian noise sensitivity and Fourier tails". Isr.
	J. Math. 225.1 (2018), pp. 71–109. DOI: 10.1007/s11856-018-1646-8.
[Kol28]	A. Kolmogorov. "Über die Summen durch den Zufall bestimmter unabhängiger Größen."
	Math. Ann. 99 (1928), pp. 309–319. DOI: 10.1007/BF01459098.
[Kol62]	A. N. Kolmogorov. "Remark on the report of M. S. Pinsker". In: Summary of Papers
	Presented at the Sessions of the Probability and Statistics Section of the Moscow Mathematical
	Society (November-December, 1960). Theory Probab. Appl. 6. 1962, p. 335. DOI: 10.1137/
Fa (7	1106047.
[Lév35]	P. Lévy. "Propriétés asymptotiques des sommes de variables aléatoires indépendantes
	ou enchaînées". Journal de Mathématiques Pures et Appliquées. 9th ser. 14.1-4 (1935),
	pp. 347-402. URL: http://www.numdam.org/item/JMPA_1935_9_14_1-4_347_0/.

[Lév54]	P. Lévy. Théorie de l'addition des variables aléatoires. 2nd. ed. Monographies des probabil-
_	ités XX. Gauthier-Villars, 1954.
[Lin22]	J. W. Lindeberg. "Eine neue Herleitung des Exponentialgesetzes in der Wahrscheinlichkeit- srechnung." <i>Math. Z.</i> 15 (1922), pp. 211–225. DOI: 10.1007/BF01494395.
[MOO10]	E. Mossel, R. O'Donnell & K. Oleszkiewicz. "Noise stability of functions with low in-
	fluences: invariance and optimality". Ann. Math. (2) 171.1 (2010), pp. 295-341. DOI:
	10.4007/annals.2010.171.295.
[MPRW16]	D. Marinucci, G. Peccati, M. Rossi & I. Wigman. "Non-universality of nodal length distri-
[]	bution for arithmetic random waves". <i>Geom. Funct. Anal.</i> 26.3 (2016), pp. 926–960. DOI:
	10.1007/s00039-016-0376-5.
[NO08]	D. Nualart & S. Ortiz-Latorre. "Central limit theorems for multiple stochastic integrals
	and Malliavin calculus". Stochastic Processes Appl. 118.4 (2008), pp. 614-628. DOI: 10.
	1016/j.spa.2007.05.004.
[NP05]	D. Nualart & G. Peccati. "Central limit theorems for sequences of multiple stochastic
	integrals". Ann. Probab. 33.1 (2005), pp. 177–193. DOI: 10.1214/00911790400000621.
[NP09]	I. Nourdin & G. Peccati. "Stein's method on Wiener chaos". Probab. Theory Relat. Fields
L]	145.1-2 (2009), pp. 75–118. DOI: 10.1007/s00440-008-0162-x.
[NP12]	I. Nourdin & G. Peccati. Normal approximations with Malliavin calculus. From Stein's
	method to universality. Camb. Tracts Math. 192. Cambridge University Press, 2012. DOI:
	10.1017/CB09781139084659
[NPR09]	I. Nourdin, G. Peccati & G. Reinert. "Second order Poincaré inequalities and CLTs on
	Wiener space". J. Funct. Anal. 257.2 (2009), pp. 593–609. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfa.2008.12.
	017.
[NPR10]	I. Nourdin, G. Peccati & G. Reinert. "Invariance principles for homogeneous sums: uni-
	versality of Gaussian Wiener chaos". Ann. Probab. 38.5 (2010), pp. 1947–1985. DOI: 10.
	1214/10-A0P531.
[Nua06]	D. Nualart. The Malliavin calculus and related topics. 2nd ed. Probab. Appl. Springer, 2006.
	DOI: 10.1007/3-540-28329-3.
[PT05]	G. Peccati & C. A. Tudor. "Gaussian limits for vector-valued multiple stochastic integrals".
	In: Séminaire de probabilités XXXVIII. Springer, 2005, pp. 247–262.
[Rot73]	V. I. Rotar'. "Some limit theorems for polynomials of second degree". Theory Probab. Appl.
	18 (1973), pp. 499–507. DOI: 10.1137/1118064.
[Rot79]	V. I. Rotar'. "Limit theorems for polylinear forms". J. Multivariate Anal. 9 (1979), pp. 511-
	530. DOI: 10.1016/0047-259X(79)90055-1.
[Sev62]	B. A. Sevast'yanov. "A class of limit distributions for quadratic forms of normal stochastic
	variables". In: Summary of Papers Presented at the Sessions of the Probability and Statistics
	Section of the Moscow Mathematical Society (November-December, 1960). Theory Probab.
	Appl. 6. 1962, pp. 337–340. DOI: 10.1137/1106047.
[Vil09]	C. Villani. Optimal transport. Old and new. Grundlehren Math. Wiss. 338. Springer, 2009.
	DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-71050-9.
[Wal23]	J. L. Walsh. "A closed set of normal orthogonal functions." Am. J. Math. 45 (1923), pp. 5–24.
[]	DOI: 10.2307/2387224.
[Wie38]	N. Wiener. "The homogeneous chaos." Am. J. Math. 60 (1938), pp. 897–936. DOI: 10.2307/
[2371268.
[WW43]	N. Wiener & A. Wintner. "The discrete chaos". Am. J. Math. 65 (1943), pp. 279–298. DOI:
L - J	10.2307/2371816.
[XK02]	D. Xiu & G. E. Karniadakis. "The Wiener-Askey polynomial chaos for stochastic dif-
	ferential equations". SIAM J. Sci. Comput. 24.2 (2002), pp. 619-644. DOI: 10.1137/
	S1064827501387826.

IRMAR, UNIVERSITÉ DE RENNES 1 Email address: ronan.herry@univ-rennes.fr URL: https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6313-1372

LAMA, UNIVERSITÉ GUSTAVE EIFFEL Email address: dominique.malicet@univ-eiffel.fr URL:https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2768-0125

IRMAR, UNIVERSITÉ DE RENNES 1 Email address: guillaume.poly@univ-rennes.fr